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Mr. Speaker:
I have the honour to submit herewith a special report to the Legislative

Assembly, pursuant to section 30(2) of the Ombudsman Act, R.S.B.C. 1979,
c.306.

This report sets out my investigation of the complaint of Mr., J.D.
Hamilton, Director of Forward Sawmills Ltd., against the Workers'
Compensation Board and the Ministry of Attorney General, and my
recommendations in the matter.

Yours sincerely,

[q///m

Karl A, Friedmann
Ombudsman
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INTRODUCTION

Forward Sawmills Ltd. owed a debt to the Workers' Compensation Board
(WCB). Forward has ceased operations, and had few assets. Forward's
Director, Mr, Hamilton, owned logging equipment which had been purchased
in his own name, The WCB collected the debt against the company, by sale
of Mr. Hamilton's equipment, leaving Mr. Hamilton with a debt of $60, 000

in his own name.

To do this, the WCB pre-empted another registered creditor, Island
Finances Ltd. I do not question the right of the WCB to pre-empt other

creditors, even though a recent report by the Law Reform Commission
recommended limitations on this power. But it is my opinion that the
WCB, like other creditors, must act within the power given by statute.

It is my finding that the WCB did not.

As can be seen from the report and its appendices, the history of this
problem is lengthy, and it is easy to become mired down in the details of
the case, The simple fact remains that my complainant has lost equipment
for which he paid over $70,000. The equipment went to pay his company's
debt to WCB, of about $6,000. He was left with a chattel mortgage of
over $60,000 secured only on his name. My complainant is a responsible
man, who has paid his debt to the mortgage holder. He is left with

nothing. His company has no work and he has no equipment.




For the past year I have recommended that the Ministry of Attorney
General and the WCB submit to arbitration on the amount of compensation
owing, and that my complainant's costs be borne by the Province. My
report contains a description of the events of that year. In this
introduction it 1s sufficient to say that no agreement has been reached
to resolve my complainant's losses. Rather it has been suggested that my
complainant experience further delay while the government seeks a legal

interpretation from the Supreme Court of British Columbia.

I do not believe that it is just or equitable for the government to

expect my complainant to wait any longer. It has been three years since

his equipment was seized. Until three years ago my complainant was in
business, for himself, as he had been for twenty years. For the past
three years, and until this problem is resolved, he must rely on sporadic
employment in the logging industry. T urge the Legislative Assembly to

intervene to ensure that justice is not further delayed.

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE PROBLEM

Mr. Hamilton 1s a logger. He is also a Director of Forward Sawmills
Ltd., a company working in the Forward Harbour area, near Campbell

River. The company logged a timber licence there, and also operated as a
subcontractor for Doman Industries Ltd. Like all employers, Forward was
assessed an amount owing to the WCB for insurance of its employees. 1In

the late seventies Forward fell behind in payment of its assessments.




Part of the reason for this was a dispute which developed with Domans,
Domans claimed ownership of a large quantity of cedar logs felled and
stored on the beach at Forward Harbour. Forward believed the logs were
from its own licence. Until this dispute was resolved the logs could not

be sold.

When the forest industry began to experience a down turn in 1981-1982,
the WCB assessment was still unpaid and the logs were still on the

beach. Forward ceased operations, leaving all its equipment on site.
Most of the equipment had been purchased by Mr. Hamilton personally, in
1978 to 1980. He had bought a D8 catérpillarvtractor, two skidders, two
logging towers, and some small equipment., To raise the money he had
personally signed an agreement with-a Victoria finance company, Island
Finances Ltd., which gave the company a mortgage over all of the
equipment. That mortgage was registered with the Central Registry of the

Ministry of Consumer and Corporate Affairs.

When Forward Sawmills ceased operating, Mr. Hamilton owed Island Finances
about $60,000, Island Finances did not take its remedy of repossession
of the equipment: instead it waited, knowing that the economy was poor

for logging, and that Mr. Hamilton would pay as soon as he was able.

The WCB did not wait. TIts original assessment debt of about $4,000 had
risen to over $6,000 with penalties and interest. This was a debt owing
by the company, Forward Sawmills Ltd. Under section 45 of the Workers -

Compensation Act, the Board may issue a certificate stating that an




assessment was made, and the amount remaining unpaid. Certificates were
issued, which named Forward Sawmills Ltd. as the debtor. The
certificates were filed in County Court pursuant to section 45(2) of the

Workers Compensation Act. Writs of seizure and sale were issued against

Forward Sawmills Ltd., and sent to Sheriff Services in Campbell River for

enforcement, No writs were issued against Mr. Hamilton.

Those writs were received by the sheriff in the spring of 1982, The
sheriff contacted Mr. Hamilton, and gave him some time to come up with
the money to pay Forward's debt. Mr, Hamilton tried to convince the
sheriff to seize and sell the cedar logs on the beach. The sheriff would
not do that, because of the dispute with Domans as to who owned the

logs. The sheriff did allow Mr. Hamilton time to try to make a private

sale or to settle with Domans.

In July, 1982, the sheriff flew to Forward Harbour, taking a heavy duty
mechanic with him, The sheriff placed seizure on two pieces of
equipment, the D8 caterplllar and one of the skidders both of which were
owned by Mr, Hamilton. This equipment was left at Forward Harbour with
the other, unseized machinery. On return to Campbell River the sheriff
checked into various methods of selling the equipment, including moving

it to Vancouver for auction.

Several months went by. The WCB sent the sheriff a cheque for $2,500 to
cover the cost of moving the equipment. The sheriff arranged for repairs

on the equipment. Meanwhile, Mr. Hamilton was still trying to find a




buyer for the logs, so that Forward's debt could be paid. Throughout
this time the resale value of Mr, Hamilton's equipment was dropping,
because of the slump in the forest industry. Perhaps because of this
slump, Mr, Hamilton was unable to find a buyer for the logs, despite his

many attempts and the sheriff's co-operation in allowing this delay.

By November of 1982 there were few auctions of logging equipment being
held, and the sheriff recognized that the cost of moving the equipment
may be prohibitive, when compared to the likely price at sale.

Nevertheless, the sheriff continued, obtaining estimates on the cost of

moving the cat and the skidder out by barge.

In December, 1982 an employee of the WCB visited the sheriff office, and
told the sheriff that the WCB might not go through with the sale. The
sheriff had known that the equipment belonged to Mr, Hamilton, not to the
company, Forward Sawmills Ltd., but he did not think that this was a

problem. The sheriff thought that section 52 of the Workers Compensation

Act allowed the seizure of goods belonging to a director of the company.
When the sheriff learned from the Board's employee that the WCB may not
interpret section 52 the same way, he wrote to the WCB asking for

instructions on the legal question.

The WCB never answered that question. Instead it wrote a letter
authorizing the sheriff to advertise the sale of the equipment in the

local paper. A purchaser was found. The purchaser offered $6,000 "as




is, where is" for the cat and skidder. In January, 1983, the WCB

authorized the sheriff to accept that offer.

When the purchaser went to Forward Harbour to remove his equipment, he
also removed a second skidder. This skidder had never been seized by the
sheriff, and, like the other equipment, it belonged to Mr. Hamilton, not
to the company. Mr. Hamilton discovered the second skidder had been
moved, and told the sheriff that he had contacted the RCMP and may ask
that charges of theft be laid. Although Mr. Hamilton did not withdraw
the allegation of theft, the sheriff accepted $3,710 from the purchaser,

as payment for the second skidder.

In all, the sheriff raised $9,500 from the sale of equipment for which
Mr. Hamilton had paid over $78,000. The WCB received $6,476,.48, the
sheriff's costs were over $2,500, leaving a balance of $505.85 which was

sent to Island Finances.

MY INVESTIGATION

Mr., Hamilton contacted my office soon after the sheriff sale. Why, he
asked, had the sheriff sold for $9,500 goods for which he had paid over
$78,000? Why had the sheriff refused to seize logs owned by his company,
instead of the equipment? What was he supposed to do about his chattel
mortgage on the equipment, on which $60,000 was still owing to Island
Finances Ltd.? Why had the sheriff sold the second skidder to the

purchaser of the first two items, when the sheriff knew that the
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purchaser had removed the second skidder from Forward Harbour without
authority and that Mr, Hamilton was considering alleging theft thereby?
Why were the sheriff costs so high: $2,500 on a debt of $6,500? Why did
the WCB have these assets seized, effectively putting him out of
business, when a private finance company was willing to wait to collect

on a debt ten times as large?

I believed that all of these were complaints within my mandate. In some
of the issues, Mr. Hamilton may have had the option of filing a suit
against the Province. I considered whether or not it would be
appropriate to decline to investigate, and refer him to the courts. T
decided that I must go ahead. Mr. Hamilton had come to me seeking
justice, and he was not financially capable of bearing the cost of a suit
against the Province. T began a lengthy investigation of the actions of
both the WCB and the sheriffs. During that investigation I became aware
of one factor so crucial that T began to focus my investigation on that
factor alone, reserving the right to address all other issues at a later
date if necessary. The paramount question which emerged was whether the
sheriff could lawfully seize and sell on the writs of seizure and sale,
equipment that was owned not by the Board's debtor, but by an individual,

Mr., Hamilton.

Although I did not complete the investigation of most of the original
complaints made by Mr. Hamilton, my investigation did reveal information
which added substance to his complaints, For example, the logs which the

sheriff declined to selze were subsequently determined to belong to the

company, and were sold for over $40,000,




Another set of facts revealed by my investigation, but unrelated to the
legal question was sufficiently unusual that T believed it must be
pﬁrsued. A review of the sheriff's file had shown that Mr. Hamilton had
usually received good co-operation from the sheriff, The sheriff had
made commendable efforts to ensure that Mr. Hamilton was kept informed of
his position, and to allow Mr. Hamilton time to act to prevent the
execution, ‘But a problem was apparent when I reviewed the manner of the
"sale” of the second skidder, which had been removed from Forward Harbour
by the purchaser of the first two pieces of equipment. This “"sale" had
gone ahead, despite the fact that the sheriff knew that Mr. Hamilton was
considering asking for charges under the Criminal Code, and without any
proof to the sheriff that Mr, Hamilton had reached an agreement to sell

to the purchaser.

The sheriff was in contact with Island Finances, because of their chattel
mortgage on all the equipment. Letters between Sheriff Services and
Island Finances suggested that the sheriff did not know under what
authority he sold the second skidder. In a letter dated February 28,
1983, the sheriff wrote "this will confirm that Sheriff Services ... also
sold one (1) mountain logger skidder ML200, serial #73181". A later
letter, dated April 8, 1983, takes the position that Sheriff Services did
not "sell” the second skidder, but rather seized monies owing from the
purchaser to Mr. Hamilton. The position became even less clear, in a
letter dated May 4, 1983, written by the solicitor to Court Services

Branch.



"As I understand it, the Deputy Sheriff told [purchaser's name]
that they would seize any cheque made payable to Mr. Hamilton under
section 52 of the Court Order Enforcement Act. In fact, the
necessity to do so was avoided by [purchaser's name] bringing a
cheque into the Sheriff's office, made payable to the Ministry of
Finance”.

All this, when Mr. Hamilton had not withdrawn his allegation of theft by
the purchaser., This issue, uncontested by the Ministry of Attorney
General, seemed so important that I did proceed to make a formal finding
that the Deputy Sheriff acted improperly in receiving the amount of
$3,710 from the purchaser, as some form of "payment” for the second
skidder without confirmation from Mr..Hamilton that his allegation of
theft had been withdrawn in favour of an agreement to sell for a price

certain. I did not make any recommendation specific to this finding.

Instead, I commenced a detailed investigation of the paramount question
of whether any of the equipment, owned personally by Mr, Hamilton could
be sold on the basis of the writs against Forward Sawmills Ltd. My staff
obtained the files of both the WCB and Sheriff Services, and discussed
the matter with staff of both agencies. T also sought an independent
legal opinion from a recognized practitioner in the field of debt
collection. T reviewed this information, together with the
representations I received from the Board and the Ministry, and I
concluded that the sale of this equipment could not lawfully proceed from

the writs of seizure and sale.




The legal issue is not particularly complex. Section 45 of the Workers

Compensation Act gives the Board the power to issue a certificate stating

‘that an assessment was made, the amount owing, and the person by whom it
is payable. Once filed in County or Supreme Court that certificate
becomes an order of the Court, and is enforceable "as a judgment of the
court against that person for the amount mentioned in the certificate”.
The "person™ named in the writs received by the Sheriff office in

Campbell River was Forward Sawmills Ltd.

Section 52 of the Workers Compensation Act gives the Board a statutory

lien for its debts by employers. That lien is a right or claim to the
value in goods equal to the value of the debt: the lien is not in itself
an authority to actually take possession of or sell the goods. The
statutory lien granted to the WCB 1s payable in priority over all other
liens and charges, except those for wages, and applies to property or the
proceeds of property used or produced by the business assessed. Where an
employer is a corporation, the word “"property” includes the property of
principals of the company, so long as that personally owned property was
used in or by the company. This lien may be enforced pursuant to the

Court Order Enforcement Act.

What all this means 1is that firstly the Board had a claim on Mr.
Hamilton's equipment, and secondly the Board could have proceeded in

court to request an order for seizure and sale of Mr. Hamilton's




equipment. It did not. It did file certificates agalnst Forward
Sawnills Ltd. The Board was not sure that these certificates authorized
the sale of Mr. Hamilton's equipment. In a memo to his Legal Services
Branch, dated December, 1982, an employee of the Board, a Collections
Officer, wrote:
"It was indicated by the writer to the Sheriff's office that our
policy has been that section 52 of the Act grants the Board a lien
against property owned by a director, principal or shareholder of
the company, where used in the business, however, did not perait

the Board the right to seize equipment on the strength of this
section of our Act.

In view of the amount outstanding and the circumstances I would
request that you endeavour to obtain an Order for Sale of the
equipment belonging to the principal of the subject company on the
basis of section 52(2) of the Act.

Regardless of the outcome of such action, I think it is a
worthwhile exercise to test the strength of this particular section
of the Act” (my emphasis)

The Legal Services Branch did not reply. Despite that, the Board's
employee authorized the sheriff to take appropriate steps to sell the

equipment to the highest bidder.

All of these facts were detailed in my letter of February 14, 1984,
written to both the Ministry of Attorney General and the Board pursuant

to section 16 of the Ombudsman Act. Neither the Board nor the Ministry

has taken issue with the facts outlined in my initial report. In fact,
the Board's only response was to dispute my jurisdiction. (Appendix B).
The Ministry, on the other hand, confirmed its difficulty in achieving a
definitive interpretation of the law in this matter, and proposed a “

resolution. (Appendix B).




The Ministry of the Attorney General proposed that it would apply to

Court for an interpretation of section 52 of the Workers Compensation

Act, using Mr. Hamilton's case as the factual basis for focusing the
issue. This seemed a constructive route to follow, and I was prepared to

suspend my investigation to allow this to happen.

Regrettably, T could not reach agreement with the Ministry on the terms
of such a resolution., T felt the Board and the Ministry should bear any
legal costs accruing to my complainant. T could see no reason why Mr.
Hamilton should bear the cost of the Crown's inability to determine the
correct interpretation of its legislation, particularly when Mr. Hamilton
may be only one of many individuals whose legal position needs such
clarification. Also, I was unwilling to suspend my investigation unless
the proposed resolution was timely. T did not believe it would be
reasonable to expect Mr. Hamilton to wait for years, while the legal
question was debated. For this reason T asked for the Board and the
Ministry's commitment to act on the decision of the Supreme Court of
British Columbia. The Board was continually informed of my negotiation
with the Ministry, and recelved copies of all our correspondence but

chose not to participate.

As neither the Board nor the Ministry disputed the facts revealed by my
investigation or produced any opinion or precedent to dispute the legal
opinion I obtalned, I issued my final report in this matter. T concluded
that the sale of Mr. Hamilton's equipment was based on a mistake in law,
and T recommended that the Board and the Ministry submit to arbitration

to determine the actual amount of compensation owing, and their

proportionate liability.



The Board replied, again stating its intention to “"inititate a legal
action in the courts to settle the Board's rights in this matter.”
(Appendix D). That application subsequently proved to be a test of my
jurisdiction to investigate Mr. Hamilton's complaint. The Board filed a
petition in August 1984, in which it listed ten ways in which it believed
I had exceeded or lost my jurisdiction, or usurped the authority of the
Supreme Court. The Board asked for an order quashing my decision, an
injunction preventing me from further action, and a declaration that I
had no jurisdiction to investigate Mr. Hamilton's complaint. Following
that application to the Court, the Minister of Labour, for the Lieutenant
Governor in Council, wrote to inform he in October 1984 that Cabinet
believed it was inappropriate to consider my recommendation until the
Supreme Court of British Columbia had decided the jurisdictional

challenge.

Almost eight months later, the WCB's application was dismissed by Mr.
Justice Gibbs in April 1985, Mr. Justice Gibbs' decision did not address

the question of the legality of this seizure and sale.

I wrote to the Lieutenant Governor in Council immediately, requesting its
decision on the report T had submitted to Cabinet in July 1984, before
the WCB applied to Court. Cabinet requested that I provide information
as to the amount which would be necessary to reimburse Mr. Hamilton and
Island Finances for their losses. I had not recommended a specific
payment., I am not an expert in the value of second-hand logging
equipment, and for that reason, I had continued to recommend that the
Board and the Ministry submit to arbitration on the question of

compensation, Nevertheless, in order to assist Cabinet I obtained sample
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prices on similar equipment and I informed the Lieutenant Governor in
Council that the amount at issue appeared to be between $110,000 and

$120, 000.

In May of this year, I received the Lieutenant Governor in Council's
response. It proposes to return yet again to the plan put forward by the
Ministry of Attorney General in April, 1984, where the Ministry, the
Board and Mr. Hamilton seek a declaration from the Courts. To that end,
Mr. Hamilton;s legal costs would be borne’by the Crown to a maximum of
$2,500. Should the "ultimate adjudication” uphold my opinion, then

arbitration would proceed forthwith on the terms I had specified.

I read this letter with some consternation. Although neither the
Ministry nor the Board had ever refuted the legal opinion I obtained,
their silence was construed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council to mean
that there had never been "acceptance” of my opinion. The matter was now

to be tested. Although the Crown was agreeing to pay Mr. Hamiltoa's
legal costs in that action, T had no assurance that the maximum of $2,500

would be sufficient. It was certain that $2,500 would not suffice 1if
either the Board or the Ministry appealed a decision by the Supreme Court

of British Columbia to the higher Courts,

Even more crucial, in my mind, was that there was no assurance of results
for Mr. Hamilton within the foreseeable future. When the proposal was
first suggested by the Ministry, I had been concerned that the
interpretation could take years if either government agency would not

accept the decision of the Supreme Court of British Columbia and would



carry on with further appeals. Now, a year later, the same plan was
proposed again. When I received the Cabinet's proposal almost three
years had passed since the seizure of Mr, Hamilton's equipment, and it

was more than two years since he contacted my office. T found it

difficult to contemplate a proposal from Cabinet to send Mr. Hamilton

back for further litigation.

For these reasons I urged the Lieutenant Governor in Council on June 3,
1985 to reconsider my recommendation of an immediate referral to
arbitration. I have asked that the inaction of the Ministry and the
Board not be construed as good reason to subject Mr. Hamilton to further

delay.

Meanwhile, Mr. Hamilton, the epitome of reasonableness and patience,
awaits the outcome of my efforts, Island Finances Ltd. is also waiting
patiently. Although Mr, Hamilton has paid over $60,000 to Island
Finances since the seizure, a debt of over $19,000 remains. That amount
is interest on the principal, accrued since the seizure in January 1982.
Island Finances believes that it would be inequitable to attempt to
collect that interest from Mr. Hamilton, when the seizure was not
lawful, Tsland Finances' opinion is that this is a debt owing by the

government whose employees created this problem.

I have since received a further response from the Secretary to Cabinet
which in fact rejects my recommendation for immediate arbitration. It
contains a promise that Mr. Hamilton could expect further consideration

for legal costs.




Mr. Hamilton would prefer not to litigate in the Courts. He suffered a
serious injustice three years ago. Two years ago he came to me as
Ombudsman, to secure justice for himself. It was my finding that he has
a substantiated complaint. I cannot in good conscience now agree to a
proposal whose main purpose 1s to interpret the nature of the powers of
the WCB, and which would send Mr. Hamilton back to the Courts, possibly
delaying justice for a further three or four years. To me that is not

justice: justice delayed is justice denied.

I do not believe that T can ask Mr. Hamilton and Island Finances to wait
any longer. Accordingly T request the Legislative Assembly implement ny
recommendation of Immediate arbitration, on the terms specified herein,

or take such other corrective action as it deems fit.




FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Findings

1.

2.

That the sheriff made a mistake of law by proceeding to sale of the
seized equipment on writs issued against Forward Sawmills Ltd.

That the sheriff was negligent 1in proceeding to sell the seized
items without seeking legal advice as to the validity of the
seizure: the negligence arises once the sheriff became aware that
the Board could not confirm his interpretation of section 52 of the
Workers Compensation Act.

That the Board's employee was negligent in authorizing the sheriff
to accept the bid without obtaining legal advice as to the validity
of the seizure: the negligence arises when the employee authorized
the sale knowing he had received no response to his request for a
legal opinion.

That the sheriff acted improperly in receiving payment for the
second skidder without confirmation from Mr. Hamilton that his
allegation of theft had been withdrawn in favour of an agreement to
sell for a price certain,

Recommendations

1.

2,

That the Ministry and the Board submit to arbitration pursuant to
the Arbitration Act.

That the arbitrator(s) appointed be instructed to accept my
findings and be empowered to decide the following questions:

1. the amount of compensation to be paid to Island Finances Ltd.;
2, the amount of compensation to be paid to Mr. J.D. Hamilton; and

3. the proportionate liability of the Board and the Ministry for
compensation to Island Finances Ltd. and to Mr. Hamilton.




- 18 =~ -
APPENDICES* Page
A. Preliminary Report and Associated Correspondence: -
- preliminary report dated February 14, 1984 and
appendices thereto ......cveeveveenns Cecsensesrssesissnenans 19
- addendum to preliminary report, dated March 6, 1984,
and enclosure....coveeressosenccs terecesstees et esesenatennnn 55
- letters (2) to Ministry of Attorney General extending
the time to respond to the preliminary report......oeceeeese 58
~ letter to the Board extending the time to respond
to the preliminary report...ceeeeeessss ceecesscsreserseasnen 60
B. Response to Preliminary Report and Associated Correspondence:
- letter to Ombudsman from N.C. Attewell, Secretary
to the Board, dated March 21, 1984.....c00vcevevccccscsoanns 61
- response thereto, dated April 3, 1984......civticrencncenes 63
- letter to Ombudsman from George Copley, Ministry of Attorney B
General, dated March 30, 1984...... tesseeressessieasananens . 65
~ letter to E.N. Hughes dated April 12, 1984,........00000uvues 66
- letter to Ombudsman from G. Copley dated April 27, 1984,.... 68
- letter to Board and Ministry of Attorney General dated
May 17, 1984, ...iuveiecrcnecsansescssoscsescssssossssnsssans 10
Cc. Legal Opinion:
- opinion of Mr. Leon Getz, Barrister & Solicitor,
dated June 11, 1984. ... eeencnccennncccccannsacnnens 71
D. Final Report and Associated Correspondence:
- final report of the Ombudsman to the Board and
the Ministry of Attorney General, dated June 18, 1984....... 74 —
- response from G. Copley, dated June 25, 1984,...0000vevevsns 78
- response from N.C. Attewell, dated July 6, 1984..... ceconaas 79
E. Decision of Mr. Justice Gibbs, dated April 9, 1985,.....c00000t. 80
F. Report to the Lieutenant Governor in Council and
Associated Correspondence:
- report to the Lieutenant Governor in Council,
delivered July 20, 1984........ .ttt ennns Perecesaarenas 88
- Letter to Ombudsman from the Honourable R.H. McClelland -
dated October 31, 1984............ cessnsse Cessessssseseasenes 92
- Letter to the Honourable W.R. Bennet, P.C.,
dated February 5, 1985, iveetietrereencnsssecronsccernnnnsne 93
- Letter to the Ombudsman from Mr. Bert Hick,
dated March 13, 1985.....0000000 cevetteseesrescrssrstcaenne 95
— Letter to Mr. Bert Hick dated April 10, 1985....ccccceeennss 97
-~ Letter to Mr. Bert Hick dated April 11, 1985...cccieveccnnns 98
- Letter to the Ombudsman from Mr. Bert Hick
dated April 16, 1985.....ccveveeeens cessserssesnan [ () |
- Letter to Mr, Bert Hick dated April 23, 1985......cc00000s.. 102
-~ Letter to the Ombudsman from Mr., Bert Hick
dated May 10, 1985....000cvtennnnncs cesstcaanssens ceeeeee ... 103
-~  Letter to Mr, Bert Hick dated June 3, 1985.......... eesecees 108
-  Letter from Mr. Bert Hick dated June 13, 1985.....c00000.e.. 109 N
* For ease of reference the appendices have been numbered at the top of

each page.



¢t -

Legislative Assembly OMBUDSMAN 8 Bastion Square

Province of British Columbia Viztotia ‘
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Teluphone- (604) 387-5855
Zenith 2221

File No: 813 50440
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February 14, 1984

Mr. W.Flesher Mr. E.N. Hnghee, .7,
Chairman Deputy Attorney General
Workers' Compensation Board 609 Broughton Street
6951 Westminster Highway Victoria, B, C.
Richmond, B. C. V8V 1X4

V7C 1Cé6

Gentlemen:

I am writing pursuant to section 16 of the "mhudeman Art tn natifyv vou of
the apparent prounds for making a finding and of the recoamendations |
may make in the complaint of John Hamilton, Director of Forward Sawmills
Ltd, 1 have taken the unusnal step of writing this letter fointlv tn
both the Board and the Ministry because the actions of the twn apencics

are Inextricably entwined in the creation of the problem of which Mr,
Hamilton complained.

Mr. Hamilton's original complaint to my office wa=s that Shertiff{ Services
had sold his equipment for far less than its worth, as a result of a
seizure on writs issued by the Workers' Compensation Rnard. He also
complained that Sheriff Services had acted improperlv in dealing with and
selling a skidder to Mr. Doug Lloyd of Crescent Ridne Contractinp,
knowing that Mr. Hamilton had alleged to the lncal RCM Polfice that Mr,
Lloyd had stolen that skidder from him.

In the investigation of these issues, I tecame aware of many other
apparently problematic actions. For example, questions were raised in my
mind as to why the Board dfd not pursue its optinn apafnst Nnman
Industries under section 51 of the Workers' Compensation Act, and why the
executing sheriff did not seize in the presence of the debtor as required
by section 15 of the Debt Collection Act. I have chosen not to foerus on
such i{ssues at this time, because, in my mind, there are two central
concerns of such magnitude that they alone will serve to make my pnint,
These two concerns are outlined below. I reserve the rieht to address
all the other issues, should either the Board or the Minigtry fall tn see
the need for a remedy based on the grounds set out below,




20

Before proceeding to outline the relevant facts frnm which my findinesg -
may be inferred I wish to acknowledge that my perusal of the files ,
maintained by both the Board and Sheriff Services, shnws evidence of many ]
attempts to avoid this seizure. 1In particular I have noted the actions —
of Deputy Sheriff Owens, who appears to have made commendable efforts tn

ensure that Mr, Hamilton was kept informed of his pnsition, and to allow

Mr. Hamilton time to act to prevent the executfon, HMotwithstandins thrre

efforts, in my opinion the facts outlined below serve as apparent grounds

for findings under the Ombudsman Act that:

1. Deputy Sheriff Owens made a mistake of law hy proceeding tn sale of
the seized {tems,

2. Deputy Sheriff Owens was negligent in proceeding to sell the seilzed -
items without seeking legal advice as to the validity of the
seizure,

3. Mr. K.G. Robertson was negligent in authorizing the Sher!ff to

accept the bid without obtaining legal advice as to the validity of
the seizure.

4, Deputy Sheriff Owens acted Improperly fin receivine the amount of
$3,710.00 from Mr. Lloyd, as some form of 'pavment' for the second
skidder.

Relevant History, Part 1

In March 1982 the Board forwarded to Campbell River Sheriff Office writs -
totaling $6476.48 against Forward Sawmills Ltd. *emos apparently
enclosed, listed assets of a cat and skidder, located in Forward
Harbour, In July 1982 Sheriff Services requested and recefved a lien
check against the equipment sugpested for seizure, That cheeck revealed a
chattel mortgage between John Hamilton and Island Ffnances, for amongst
other items,

Moutain logger skidder ML 200, serfal 771A6

D/8 Caterpillar tractor serial 14A4101 together with ROPS Canopy,
winch and blade

Mountain logger skidder ML200, serial 73181

The name Forward Sawmills Ltd., the judement debtor on each of the three
writs, does not appear on this chattel mortgage. It {is not clear from
file material whether or not the knowledge of Mr, Ham{lton's personal
ownership was passed to the Board at this stage. In any event, the
Board's own file reveals that in March of 1979 Mr. Hamilton informed the
Board himself that the equipment was owned personally,

oo



From July to early December 1982 Sher{ff Services continmied tn act an the
writs. In late July the cat and one skidder were selzed, and DP/S Owens
began a long series of negotiations with Mr. Ham{lton, Island Finances,
and the Board around the options for satisfaction of the writs, and
different methods of sale of the sefzed equipment.

On December 7, 1982 Mr. Robertson of the Board's Collertinns Sectinn, met
with D/S Owens, and the question of Mr., Wamilton's persnnal ownership of
the seized goods was discussed. As the documents appended to this letter
show, it 1s clear that to December 7th D/S Nuena was anrting on the heliaf
that the Board's writ entitled him to sefze goods owned persanally bv Mr,
Hamilton. It is also clear that D/S Owens, on learning that hig helfef

may be in error, requested clarification from the Board (See letter dated
December 9th).

On December 15th Mr. Robertson informed D/S Owena hy phone that the
Board's lawyer would be making an application for a court order allowing
sale of the equipment. December 1hth he Arafted a memn to G.W. Massing
of the Board's Legal Services requesting such an order., In that memo,
(see appendix #4 ) he writes

“In view of the amount outstanding, and the cirrumstances T would
request that you endeavour to obtain an order for sale of the
equipment belonging tn the principal of the subject companvy on the
basis of section 52(2) of the Act.

Regardless of the outcome of such an actfon, T think {t s a
worthwhile exercise to test the strength of this particular sectian
of the Act”., (my underlining)

On January 12, 1983 D/S Owens was informed by Mr. Massing that nn
application had yet been made, but that it should nct take long. On
January 21st Mr. Robertson advised D/S Owens to advertise, and then take
"appropriate steps...to sell the equipment to the hfghest bidder”. On
January 31lst Mr. Robertson again wrote to the sheriff.,."Accordingly, we
would agree that the present offer to purchase be accepted”, At no pnint
between January 12th and January 31st was the order under sectinn 52(?)
obtained, 1In fact mv staff were told hv both Mr. Missino and Mr,

Robertson that no reply, verbal or written, was ever made to the memo of
December 16th cited above,

s e
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Apparent grounds for findings 1, 2, 3, 1listed ahove

From the facts listed above, 1t I8 clear that at the time of the sale of
Mr. Hamilton's cat and skidder, neither the Board nor Sherlff Services
were convinced of their ability to make such a sale based nn the writs to
hand. It is also uncontested that neither the BRoard nor Sheri{ff Cervices
obtained legal advice which clarified their uncertainties. Nor did the
Board obtain the order discussed.

I may have cause to find that, not only were the Ronard and Sher{ff
Services negligent in proceeding to sale without clarification of the
validity of the seizure, but also that the sefzure and sale were hasrd on
a mistake in law. Section 52 of the Workers' Comprnsatinn Act provides
that an amount due by an employer to the Board on an assessment,
constitutes a lien in favour of the Board, payable in priority over all
liens, charges or mortgages, with respect to the property or proceeds of
property used in connection with the industry with respect to which the
employer was assessed. For the purpose of this section, whrre the
employer is a corporation the word property “includes the property of
any director, manager or other principal”. 1In other wnrds, secctinn 52
creates a statutory lien, and gfves it priority of nther liens, HNothing
in this section speaks to the enforcement of such a lien,

It seems to me that unless the Board has the perannal possessinng
referred to in section 52(2) in their lawful possession, the onlv wvay
that the Board can proceed to collect on an assessment owing from an
employer 18 under section 45 of the Workers' Compensation Act. That
section allows the Board to fssue a certifficate statinp the asseasment
made, the amount remaining unpald and the person by whom 1t i3 payable,
Such a certificate, on being filed "becomes an order of that court and
may be enforced as a judgment of the court apalinst that person for the
amount mentioned in the certificate”. (my underlining.)

I do not believe that section 52 of the Woarkers' Coampensatinn Act on {ts
own, gives the Board or its agents the power to scize and sell property,
Even 1f such power were given, section 52(2) does nnt automatfcally
permit the sheriffs to execute against a director of a company {in his
personal capacity. Section 45 also does not appear to speak to
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execution: Thug, the only authority I can find fa that pranterd by the
Court Order Enforcement Act. At section 30 of the Court Order
Enforcement Act a judpgment debtor 18 defined. Judpment dehtnr means “the
person against whom the judgment was given, and includes any person
agalonst whom the judgment is enforceable in the state in which {t was
given” (my underlining). At section 42 different definftions are glven,
for the terms "execution debtor™ and "julpment debtor”., Nefther of those
appear to extend the definitfon quoted above,

Thus I may have cause to find that Sheriff Services erred in law by
selling Mr. Hamilton's equipment, and that both the Board and Sheriff
Services were negligent {n proceeding to sale of that equipment while
uncertain that such a sale could be effected based on the writs to hand,

Relevant History, Part 11

Following the sale of the first skidder and cat to Mr., Llovd, N/S Nvens
was contacted by Mr. Hamilton regarding a secnnd skidder, apparently
removed by Mr., Lloyd. This second skidder had nnt heen geized by N/S
Owens. D/S Owens quickly became aware that Mr, Hamflton was alleging
theft by Mr. Lloyd, and that a conmplaint had been made to the local RCM
Police. According to D/S Owens' notes, he was informed hy Mr. Lloyd that
Mr. Lloyd did have possession of the second skidder, and was hopinpg tn
negotiate a purchase from Mr. Hamflton. The price digcussed between Mr,
Lloyd and D/S Owens was $3500.00 to $4000.00, despite the fact that the
skidder was referred to by Mr., Lloyd as "just junk”.

The sheriff file shows no conversation between N/S Owens and Mr. Hamilton
confirming the reality of the negotiations for sale, and Mr. Hamilton has
no memory of such a conversation. D/S Owens, however, believes he may
have phoned Mr, Hamilton, and that Mr. Ham{lton said that it waa possgihle
that he and Mr. Lloyd would reach such an agreement., Wjithout any
confirmation of the completion of such an agreement, or of the price, D/S
Owens accepted from Mr. Lloyd, a cheque made pavable to the Minister of
Finance. The cheque was for $3710.00, being $3500 plus $210 social
services tax.

The notes and letters on the Sheriff Services file are unclear as to the
mechanism by which these monies were considered to be prayable tn the

sheriff. In a letter to Island Finances, dated February 28th, 1983, D/S
Owens states

“this...will confirm that Sheriff Services...also sold one (1)
mountain logger skidder ML200, serial # 73181.”

'l.6




Later correspondence takes the positfon that Sherfff Services did not
“sell” the second skidder, but rather sefzed the monies owing from Mr,
Lloyd to Mr. Hamilton (see letter to Crease & Company dated April 8th,
1983). The position becomes even less clear in a letter dated May 4th,
written by Mr. Roger Walker, solicitor to Court Services, '

“As 1 understand it the Deputy Sheriff tnld Dnug T.loyd that they
would seize any cheque made payable to Mr, Hamilton under the
provision of section 52 of the Court Order FEnfnrcement Act, In
fact, the necessitity to do so was avoided by Mr., Llovd hringing a
cheque into the Sheriff's office, made payabhle to the Minister of
Finance”.

Through all the contradictions listed ahove, it remains clear that the
Sheriff accepted a cheque for $3710.00, aa some form of paymeant for Mr,
Hamilton's second skidder. Of this amount $210 went to tax, $3157.0] tn
Sheriff commission and statutory fees, $2596.14 to the Board, and the
balance of $550.85 to 1sland Finances.

Apparent grounds for finding #4, listed above

As previously stated, 1 have chosen in this letter to {gnore manvy
concerns raised in the investigation of this case. Thws at present 1 do
not intend to argue the various reasons given as to whether the second
skidder was ever seized, or whether the sheriff actually selzed monies
pursuant to section 52 of the Court Order Enforcement Act. As mentioned
above, 1f necessary 1 will address that issue at a later date.

In my belief there may be sufficient grounds for the findire (numbered 4
above) that D/S Owens acted improperly in the receipt of monirs for the
second skidder, based only on the acknowledged fact that the mnney was
paid by a man whom Mr. Hamilton had accused of stealinae the skidder, and
without any confirmation by Mr. Hamilton that this allepatinn had been
withdrawn in favour of an agreement to sell for a certain price,
Further, my arguments made earlier regarding the lack of apparent law
authorizing the seizure and sale of Mr, Hamilton's equipment also apply,
mutatis mutandis, to the second skidder,

Tentative recommendations

The facts and arguments made already, chronicle a series of horrors in
the mind of Mr., Hamilton. He is without three pteces of equipment
necessary 1f he is ever to resume operations; equipment for which he has
bills of sale totalling over $78,000.00 which went to satisfy a debt of
$6,000.00. To this I would add that he and Island Finances are left with
an unsecured and unsatisfied debt originally contracted on the

equipment. As of March 1983 the debt rematlning was stated by Talanrd
Finances to be $64,000.00,
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I understand from Mr. Hamilton that hisg current dehbt to Igsland Finances
on this chattel mortgage, is about §25,000.00, Approximately $40,000,00
has been paid off in the past year, mostly as a result of Mr, Hamilton's
sale of logs stored at Forward Harbour. These were the same loga which
both Sheriff Services and the Board declined to sefze as they were nnt
satisfied of Forward Sawmills Ltd.'s ownership.

In communicating my anticipated recommendations in thisg cagse T believe 1
must address not only the loss of equipment, but also the outstanding
personal debt which had been secured by that equipment. Accordingly 1
may recommend that the Board and the Ministry jointly compensate Mr.
Hamilton in such a manner that he 18 again in possession of the equipment
necessary to ply his trade. Such compensation could be conditional on an
agreement between the parties that Mr. Hamilton will undertake to secure
that equipment to Island Finances, against his outstanding loan,

Alternatively, I may recommend that the Board and the Ministry jointly
compensate Mr, Hamilton and Island Finances by the issuance of a monetary

payment equal to the value of the equipment at the time of the
compensation payment.

When he bought the equipment, Mr. Hamilton paid $78,600.00, At present
we have no firm knowledge of its trué market value at the time of the
sheriff sale. The fact remains that Mr. Hamilton was not plannirg to
sell the equipment. 1Its value to him rested in the knowledge that hig
company could resume work at any time when the economy permitted, Both
he and Island Finances were withstanding a slump in the logring industry,
waiting for better days to come, and with no plan to sell the equipment
in order to cut their losses.

In making these tentative recommendations T have hased my opinfon on the
apparent grounds outlined above. If the sale of the equipment was, in
fact, contrary to law and could not proceed from the writs to hand, then
my recommendation should look to reinstatement of the aggrieved parties
to the position they were in prior to the unlawful act. Actual loss, by
which I mean the value of the equipment at the time of the sale, 1s not a
relevant factor if the sale itself was unlawful. Actual lnss would, I
contend, only be the relevant yardstick i{f the sale was lawful, bhut
conducted in a negligent or otherwise improper manner.

In making these anticipated recommendations to the Board and the Ministry
jointly, I have not given my views on their respective proportionate

liability. That may be necessary at some future date if an agreement
cannot be reached.

."S
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Pursuant to section 16 of the Omhuderan Act, R.S.B.C. 1979, ¢, 30K, 1
invite the written representations of the Board and of the Minlstry,
either jointly or severally, on or before February 28th, 1984, ShoulAd
you require any further factual {nformation before making ynur respnnse,
plecase contact my investigator, Dorothy NHayward. 1 am sending copics cf
this letter to Deputy Sheriff Owens and to Mr, Robertgan, and fnvite then
also to make written representations to my office, 1f they so choose.

Yours sincerely,

/ol Forve

Karl A. Friedmann
. Ombudsman
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APPENDICLES

Writs (3) of ;eizure and sale against Forward Sawmilla Ltd.
Chattel mortgage between J.D. Hamilton and Island Finances Limited
Letter of Deputy Sheriff Owens, dated 09.12.82

Memo of Mr. Robertson, dated 16,.12.82

Letter of Mr. Robertson, dated 21.01.83

Letter of Mr. Robertson, dated 31.01,.83

Letter of Deputy Sheriff Owens, dated 28.02.83

Letter of Deputy Sheriff Owens, dated 08.04,83

Letter of Mr. Walker, dated 04,05.8)

Proof of purchase of equipment (5 items),
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Action No. Cl3yndy

e et a-ane

_NANAIMO  PEGISTRY
FORM 42 (RULE 42 (1))

IN THE COUNTY COURT OF VANCOUVER ISLAND

Between WORKERS' COMPENSATIOH ROARD » Judgment Creditor,

FORWARD SAWVMILLS LTD. y Judgment Debtor,

WRIT OF SEIZURE AND SALE
To the Sheriff:

You are commanded forithwith to seize and sell at public auction or
by tender for the best avallable price sufficient of the gnods and
chattels of the undermentioned person to realize the sums set out on the
back of this writ, which are payable by virtue of the attached order of
this Honourable Court, together with your costs, fees, and expenses for
executing thls writ.

After carrying out the above instructiens you shall pay to the
person specified on the back of this writ from the amount realized the

sum or sums that are payable to him and account therefor by return to

the Court, -
e
/L? \//?C//"
fr/‘/ //’ '[L’
chlsftar

Name and address of solfcltor or person causing this writ to be issued:
G.W. Massing, Solicitor
5255 Heather Street :
Vancouver, British Columbia
V52 3L8

e S

Foro 1PEL4
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Name and address of person whose goods and chattels are to be seized: %
: ~ b
Forward Sawmills Ltd. s AP ¢
Box 328 I T :
Qualicum Beach, B.C. ! . :
VOR 2TO { o . T
o ! Y \ v
Amount remaining due and payable on judgment: 530230{12
2
-‘.A‘
Amount of costs remaining due and payable: "i'f;{Al e :
Amount of interest on judgment remaining due and payable: Five (5%) per o §

annum from date

Sheriff's costs (to be filled in by Sheriff): of judgment

Total (to be filled in by Sheriff):

identity of persons entitled to payment of judgment: Workers' Comprnsarion B

. 5255 Heather Street
Vancouver, British Colun
v5z 3.8
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Y Vo HANATMO:
e T IN THE CUUNTY COURT o' VANCOUVER ISLAlD Registry

Xxhﬂazzzzs\\ In THE NATTER OF THE WORFERS' COMPENSATION -

‘ACT, BEING CHAPTER 437 REVISED STATUTES OF

BPITISH COLUMBIA, 1979 AND AMENDMENTS THERETO

MR35 102
BETWEEN:
fEGIsTRl

WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

JUDGMENT CREDITOR
AND

FORWARD SAWMILLS LTD.

JUDGMENT DERTOR
CERTIFICATE

This Certifies, in accordance with Sectionh 45 of the

above méntioned Act, that the VWorkers' Compensation Board, under
" the provisions of the said Act, hés assessed the amount of
o $671.17 upon the judgment debtor herein; that $671.17
of the said assessment remains unpaid and that the said amount
of $671.17 is now due and owing by the jud;yment debtor

FORWARD SAWMILLS LTD.

to the judgment creditor Workers®' Compensation Board.

Giyen under the Seal of the said Board, and the hand of

the Secretary thereof this[)fz day of March , 1982.

| /
- [ ] /c/ L

Workers' Compcnnatlon Roard

Secretory

Form 18E58
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FORM 42 (RULE 42 (1))

IN THE COUNTY COURT OF VANCOUYER ISLAND

eLL Riv

ween

€x WORKERS® COMPLNSATION BOAPRD , Judpment Creditor,

FORWARD SAVMILLS LTD. » Judinent bebtor,

WRIT OF SEIZURE AKD SALFE —

To the Sheriff:

You are commanded forthwith to setzc and soll at public auction or
by tender for the best available price Snffilivnt of thcrynnds and
chattels of the undermentionced person to realize the sums set oﬁt an the
back of this writ, which are payable Ly virtue of thé attnrﬁudvordcr of -
this Honourable Court, together with your costs, fces, and expenses fur
executing this writ.

After carrying out the above fnstructions you shall pay to the
person specificd on the back of this writ from the amount realized the

sum or sums that arce payable to hin and account therefor by return to

‘ the Court.

1 7
Aot

Rogls(rﬁr

—— ane —

Name and address of solicitor or person causing this writ to be frsuced:
G.W. Massing, Solicitor
5259 Meather Strect
Vancouver, Britjish Celumbia
vh2 3.8

Form JEL44
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Name and sddress of person whose goods and chattels are‘io be srlzed:

- Forward Sawmills Ltd.
Box 328 ) .
Qualicum Beach, B.C.

.- VOR 2TO

Anount remaining due and payable on judgment: S$671.17
Amount of costs remaining due and payable:

Aoount of interest on judgment remaining due and payable: Five (5%) per
annum from dat
Sheriff's costs (to be filled in by Sheriff): of judgment

Total (to be filled in by Sheriff):

Identity of persons entitled to payment of judgment: Workers' Corpensation

5255 Heather Strect
s Vinecouver, British Col
= ' RS V52 318

Vit

=
¥
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‘ IN THE COURTY COURT OF NANATHMO Registry

VAHCOUVER 1SLAND

IN THE NATTER OF THE VWOPKERS' COMPENSATIONA
ACT, BEING CHAPTER 437 REVISED STATUTE! UI‘
BRITISH COLUMBIA, 1979 AND AMENDMENTS

BETWEEN: WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

- JUDGMENT CREDITOR

hnD FORWARD SAWMILLS LTD.
JUDGMENT NEBTOR

CERTIFICATE.

This Certifies, in accordance with Section 45 of the
above mentioned Act, that the VWorkers' Compensation'aoard. under
the provisions of ‘the said Act, has assessed the amount of

$2,575.19 upon the judgment debtor herein; that $2,575.19

w=70f the sald assessment remains unpaid and that the said amount

of $2,575.19 is now due and owing by the judgment debtor

FORWARD SAWMILLS LTD,

to the judgment crecditor Workers' Compensation Board.

Given under the Scal of the said Board, and the hand of

- 5

- / *
the Secretzry thereof this --“* day of Scptember «» 1%9,

ﬂ ’ "g/ /(///v ‘

Workers' Coumpensation Poard

Secretary

Form 1RFSQ
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"L T panaIro REGISTRY
Lty . -
R / . e
FORM 42 (RULE 42 (1)) i . 35
IN THE COUNTY COURT OF VANCOUVER ;ISLAND ey }
‘ l tir} l;
Hing e Ve, /
Botue : KORKERS' COMPLUSATION EOARD .4 , Juéf:cn: Credttor.
FORVUARD SAIMILLS LTD. » Judgzent Debtor,

i 6 - 832
o

REGIS] KRIT OF SEIZURE AKD SALE
fo the Sherif{f:

You are coamanded forthwith to relze and scll at public auction or
Ly tender for the bLest avallable price sufficient of the goods and
chattels of the undurscntioned persun to realize the suzs set out on the
back of this writ, which are payable by virtue of the attached order of
this Honourable Court, together with your costg, feces, and expenaes for
executing this writ.

After carrying out the above instructions you shall pay to the
erson specificd on the back of this welt from the a:ount‘rcallzed the

S sum or suds that arc payable to him and account therefar by return to

the Court.

7~
At focol
_ . 7 -

Registrar

o Nace and address of sollcitor or persen causing this vrit to be fssued:
G.W. Massing, Solicitor
5255 Heather Strect

~ ' Vancouver, Erftish Colunbia
vs5zZ JL8

. Form 1844




Name and address of person whose goods and chattels are to be gelzed:

Forward Sawnmilla Itd,

Box 328
Qualicum Beach, B.C.
VOR 2TO

N,

Amwount remaining due and payable on judgment: $2,§75.l9

- - -

Amount of costs remaining due and payable:

Amount of interest on judgment remaining due and payable: Five (5%) per
annum from date

Sheriff's costs (to be filled in by Sheriff): of judament

Total (to be filled in by Sheriff):

Identity of persons entitled to payment of judgment: Workers' Compensation Be

5255 Heather Street
Vancouver, British Colun
vsz 3L8
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Firm No. 239186-142
Action No,

NANAIMO REGISTRY

WORKERS' COMPZIZMNSATION BOARD
JUDGHMENT CREDITOR

AND: FORWARD SAWMILLS LTD.
JUDGMENT DILBTOR

CERTIFICATE

G.W. Massing, Solicitor
Ylorkers' Ccompensation Board
5255 Heather Streect
vancouver, British Columbia

v52Z 3L8
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\ -~ " \ . Carrpbet River

- .
Lot COURT SELRVICES ' 3 Vo EPY
Telegtee 2879129

hecertsr 9,1982

-

Mr. K. Robertson,

Assistant Supervisor,Collections,
Vorkers Compensation Board,

5255 Heather St..,

Vancouver B.C.

V52 318

Dcar Sir;
Re: Virit of Seizure Md Sale
“Your File § 239186-142

W.C.B. vi3 Foorvvud Sormills 114

With reference to our conversatirn at the Cymivs]l Fiver Sheriff's
office Decamber 7/82 I am writing for clarification of the lrards [n)icy
on seizure and sale of gnads that on the faca 1elong to a Dhiector of a
conpany In default to the Loard,

In the case of Forward Sawmills 14, the cnly 1roof of eraership

. we have regarding the D-8 Cat and the MI200 tinmtain Ingger Shidler is a
copy of a chattel norgage(attached) bLetwe~cn T51and Finanee 1imitesd ang
James David Hamilton. Mr Hamilton is a Dirrclor of Forward Sesills 1.4,
and adnits to using the equipmnt to log tha claim for vhich the 1ien
was created in favor of the board. Our inteapitation of crction 52
of the Worker Compensation Act was our total reason for seizing the cpsiprent
listed above. I understand from talking to yon that the Joard dang in fact
take a different position involving mitters siwh as this. Therefora T weld
ask for a reply as to the boards policy reqgirding «oction 52 of the Warkoers
Cumpensation Act and specific instructions as to vhat you want done with
the equipment currently under seizure at Forward Harlour.

Roiert Owens
eputy Sheriffx J
Carpbell River
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MEMORANDUM

TO: G.W. Massing December 16, 1982
Legal Services

RE: Forward Sawmills Ltd.
Firm No. 239186-142
Writ of Seizure and Sale

———t. . - -

Subject compﬁny owes the Board $6,396.48 for unpald assess- -

ment-relating to the years 1979 and 1980.

The subject account is presently in the hands of the
Campbell River Sheriff's Office by virtue of Writs of
Seizure and Sale, issued by the Board. The Sheriff
consequently has made a.seizure. against a D-8 Cat and
"M.L. 200 Mountain Logging Skidder.

The subject equipment is believed to be owned by the prin-
cipal of the company who has freely admitted that the
equipment was used in or for the business operated by,
Forward Sawmills Ltd. The Sheriff's seizure was made
‘based on_their understanding.that they were permitted to
do' 86 in accordance with the provisions of Sectlon 52

of the Workers®' Compensation Act.

The Sheriff's office advised that in addition to having
made a seizure, they have a prospective buyer interested
in purchasing the two pieces of equipment in question.

The writer recently visited the Camphell River Sheriff's
Office and discussed the matter of this outstanding Writ
with the Sheriff's Deputies. It was indicated by the
'writer.to the Sheriff's office that.our.policy has been
that Section .52 of -the Act grants the Board a lien ajainst
.property owned by a director, principal or shareholder of

. the company, where used in .the.business, however, did not
Jpermit _the Board the.right-to seize equipment on the strength

‘of this Section of our Act.

41




v.7 e -

TO: G.W. Massing -2 - ‘December 16, 1982
PE: Forward Sawmills Ltd.

, In view of the amount outstanding and the circumatances 1

" would“réquest that you endeavour.to-obhtein-an-Order, for .,

* Sale .of the equipment belonging to the principal of the
subject ¢ompany on the basis of Section 52(2) of the Act.

Regardless of the outcome of such an action, I think it
is a worthwhile exercise to test the strength of this ~
particular section of the Act.

Thank you for your anticipated cooperation in this matter.

Youtrs very truly,

sistant Supervisor,
Collections Section,
Assessment Department

KGR/vm

o\}‘
L
\l"‘

e T A gy e



R COMNPENSA ™ ON rely
S BOARD &' -
. ( C . 'y 6951 Westmi ster nghway. ' - 4 3

, r, ' 1) Richmond, B.C.
Vil /) vicice ,
’ Telephone 273 2256 ' -
~ Telex 04-357722 ‘

The Sheriff's Office, Jannwary 21, 1983
500 - 13th Avenue,

Campbell River, B. C.

VIW 6P1

Attention: D/S R. Owens

Dear Sirs:

Re: Workers' Compecnsation Board vs.
Forward Sawmills Ltd.,
— Firm No. 239186-542.

This letter is further to the writer's recent telephnne
discussion with Deputy Sheriff Owens, of your office,
concerning the Board's Writ of Seizure and Sale against
the subject defendant.

It is our understanding that you have r~ndeavared to locate
a potential buyer for equipment presently under seizure,
- belonging to Lhe subject firm, on a by word of month method
of advertising. It is our further understanding that you
< have secured an offer for purchase of the equipment in
Y- question and that the subjectoffer is considered to be well
; below current market value,

Whereas the Board has forwarded the sum of $2,500.00 to

your oifice as a costs advance in addition to the face value
of our action, we agrce that it would be desirable to obtain
. a sum for the cquipment in question which nnt only cover

¢ ~ the cost advance and Sheriff's costs but would also produce
: at least a substantial portion for applicatien to the Writ
amount. Conscquently, we would agrece that the subject
equipment should perhaps be advertised via your local ncws
publications for a period not excceding two wecks,

-
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The Sheriff's Office. Januvary 21, 19R2

At such time as this advertising has laperd and any subcrquent
offers for purchase been received, then anpropriate steps
taken to sell the equipment to the highest bidder,

We trust this is the information that you require and we
look forward to your further advice,

Yours y ry'?ruly,

/4/( e /l\ -

K. G. Robertqon,
Assistant Supecrvisor,
Collections Section,
Assessment Department,

KGR :dk




Richinond, B C.

- ) 6951 Westminstar Highway, -
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, { © VIC1CH
( . Teleptione 273 ?266 -
? \_.  Telex04-357722 ,
The Sheriff's Office, January 31st, 1983,

SO0 - 13th Avcenue,
Campbell River, B. C.
VoW 6P1.

Attention: D/S R. Owens,

Dear Sirs:

Re: Workers' Corpensation Board
va,
Forward Soumilils Ltd,
Firm Ho, 239186-342.

This letter is further to our lelter dated January 21at,
1983 and the writer's subsequent telephone discussion
of January 25Lh, 1983 with Depuly Sheriff Cwens

of your
office, concerning the above captioned fiim.

It is our understanding that you have now been =uceenaful
in securlng a purchase offer in the amoant of $6,C000.00
on an as is where is basis, of all ciquipment bnl”nqrng

to the subject firm and presently subjrct to seizure.

1t is our further understanding that in your opinion

it is unlikely that additional ndVPr'l"lng or remnval of
the equ1pment from Forward Bay is likely to obtain any
higher price for the equipment in questicen,

Accordingly, we would agrece that the present offer Lo

purchase be accepted and applied against the Beard's Writ
and related costs.

We trust Epis is the information that you rerquirc and we
thank you'for your co-operation in this matter.

Yours truly,

//
/ L / 7{ /ﬁ
K. ﬁdbertson,
A551stant Supervisor,
Collections Section,
Assessment Department. L . ,
KGR:bl S
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. e Camphel Hiver
s COURT SERVICES VoW 61
Te'ephone 2R7 9138

brdoany Aig oy

File £22919

Mr. Roy Bertoia

Island Finance Limited
P.O. Box 338

Victoria, B.C.

VBW 2N6 ’

Dear Sir;

RE: Worker's Compensation Board vs. Forward Sawmills Jimited

Further to my letter of February 8th, 1983 this 1otter
will confirm that Sheriff Services of Camphell River, acting
on a Writ of Seizure & Sale in favour on the Vorkers Cormprnsation
Board, on February 17, 1983 also sold; :

- One (1) Mountain logger Skidder, ML 200, Scryial husher 73181,

Yours tiul¥y

Robert Meens,
Deputy Gherif€

RO/miw
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s COURT SEAVICES T e Py -
Te'ephune 787 9108

-——

April 8th, 1983.

Our File No. 22919

Mr. J.E.D. Savage,
Crcase & Company,
Barristers & Solicitors,
800 Bcntall Building,
1070 Douglas Street,
P.0. Box 997,

Victoria, B. C.,

Vew 258.

Yorkers' Compcnsation Board vs, Forvard Sawmills Ted,

In reply to your letter dated March 10th, 1983, the Meuntaln TLepger
skidder ML200, scrial number 73181, was unever seized and broupht into
possession of Sheriff Scrvices. After this svidder vas taven freom
Forward Sawmills, I received a call fiem Mre, Hamidten acking {f we
had sold that particular plece of equipment aleng with the other tuo
pieces that had been seized in July, 1982, 1 told him that we hadn't
seized that piece of equipment but I would telephnne Mr. Lloyd (the
successful bidder on the other equipment) and ask him if he did take
the second skidder in question., At that time Mr. Hamilton was ad-
vised that if he was considering charges, he shonld contact the
R.C.M. Police. VWhen I contacted Doug Lloyd, he ronfiimed that be

had the second skidder and was trying to contact Mr., Hamilten with

an offer to purchase it. I told him at that time that any monirs
paid on the skidder would have to be pald to ocur offjcr to be applied
to the outstanding amount of the Writs held i{n our offirce, Suberquently,
we accepted $3,500.00 from Lloyd on the skidder, whichve brlfeved to
be fair market value due to the fact that the second ckidder had no
wheels on it, no transmission and was totally incperatable.

Regarding the sale of the other two pieces of equipment, they vere
advertised in the Campbell River Mirror and Upper Islander on January
19, 1983 and in the Campbell River Courier on January 21, 1983 (copy
enclosed). The sale was by scaled bid and there were two bids re-
ceived. We do not have the copies of the Writs on hand as they were
returned to the Registry in Nanaimo. We have rcquested by telephone
that they forward a copy of the Writs to you,




J.E.D. Savage,
Crease & Company

I trust 1 have answercd your concerns and {f you have any further
Ing this matter, please contact me and 1 wonld be

questions rega
happy to nssis[

ou,

)

Robert Owcgs,
Deputy Sheri

RO:jel

Encls .

c.c. Mr. Roger Walker, Legal Officer, Court Servires leadquarters,

c.c. Mr. Harold Doucette, District Manager, Court Serviees,

April Rih,

Y/
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File: S2690-3 , May 4, 1973

Crcase & Company
garristers and Solicltors
S02 Tentall Nullding

1077 "ouzlas Streec
Victoria, R.C

vey 255

Attention: J1,7.%. Tavnae, Tsa.
Re: Tsland Firances Lintted, ‘larees Doy ocansaltion

2oard, Tareard Saenlills Led, ewt Tsag Y, fam{lton
"nre ttlz: 9317"%

‘t

cear LLrie

Yourr letfar oI Uhia 1Tt 1 ol tHhetl vlienssad oo Uevry Shertf€
Yoirarts  cens it sammaril Cvaer s nor anan rafeoe-arl to

l:".’ o

I have read %he fila earetuile vl diseusead the pattar

at length wit'y Denuty Sherlff Mwans and a3 I anldarstand
{t the Nenuty Meriff told Baoue Lloyd Ktrs tthaw coould
selz2 any cheque rade pavabla %o ‘v, ~"'“r\ srter the
provislons ntf s2c2ion 52 of %h2 Taurt - 'ar nfarce=ent
Act. {a fact, the nacaessity o (o 0 g avoet:-ba] by Mr,
Lloyd “ringin~ 2 cﬁn"ue Inte 22 Shertf%'2 o fice ade
payable ~o the Minlster of rinance.

As vou now section 32 of the *or'iers Cromcnsatian “ct
gives the WCB priority "over other liecns ar charvges

and that would include the antLgl mortzaze tn favour of
your client,

Under the circumstances I cannot see that Poputy Sherlff
Owens was in any way a party to what you consider to be

Yr. Lloyd's unlavful conversinon of the skidder nor has he

unlawfully converted any funds,

Yours truly,

Roger D. Halker
Barrister and Solicitor

cc: N/S ?Prbert "ueng
[}
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1. Title to the goods or equipment does not pass 10 the Buyer ypon delivery tust shall remain in the Galler 3 Buyer's tigk yntit \blenm. pur-
chise privg. interest. and ail cos!s are paid in cash. :

2. Al any Yume prior 10 payment in lull of the purchase rrice and interest it ary the Selter may with or witheyl legyl prncege. 1abe poecag.
sion of the goods or equipment and 101 that purPose may enter forcibly or Otherwise any premises wheig the go0ds are gny may concurrently
bring suit against the Buyer tor the balance unpaid.

3. Goods or equipment as described in tivis contract shall inctude all gttachments, accecsniisy gned repiacamants adrird In tha ¢ands and
eqiipment aiter saie. Goods shall remgin personal or movadle properly and shall not 10rm part of ary 'ty even though attached 10 it The
Buyer witl nol remove the goods of equipment l1om Ihe province o territory in which he rasices gi the time of delivery untii payment has been
mude in tull nor will he surrender them 10 any other person or permit any lien o bo plared againg! them. :

4. Seller may recover by aclion at 13« possession of the goods or equipment in additionr 10 concurrently with ar alter the exrrcise of any
oltier 1ights of the Seller. Loss, injury or destruclion of the goods or equipment a'ter delivary shatl not retease 114 Huyer from his liability. -
' 5 Afler repossession the Seller may with or without nofice se!l the 920113 Or equipment by privale of pubtic 3ate and Ihe Salter ray buy st
any such sate. The price teceived shall be apptied lirst 10 the costs incurred by the Seller for repossession, storage, repair and ssle and the
batance. if any, shalt be aoplied aganst the amount due under thig contract. : ‘ : :

6 Tha Setler will deliver the poods. ot equipent described unicss prevented Ly.8itikes nr other labnur dicprtes. a-~is of G2d or other
CaJses beyond the control of the Seller. Bujer ar.cepls the manufaciurer's written warcanty il sny) for the.gnods or eguipn-ent and the Se” ar
makes NO wartanty of any kind as (0 merchantability or otherwise. Seller has made no waregnty or tepressntation as 10 syltability of the goods
ot equipment {or any particular purpose. ’

7. The Buver shall al his (i1S) 0an sapense provide insurance in the name of ihe Sefter gng Buyet in an amngnt gatistacingg 10 the Setter
tincludirg a loss payahle endorsementy against Fahilty o1 baduly injuties including death gnd nt property fanvage ar'sing hom git yse of the -
equipment and to prolect the Selier against all toss or damage 10 the eguipment 1o the value stated in the Descriptinn in Detasl Proot of in.
s;rance shall be detivered 10 the Salier prior to delivery date. All licenses or permits required to operate said equipment gre the. responsitifity
of the huyer. ) ‘ o ’ :

8. This cGhiract containg the entire agreement between the Selier and the Buyer and there arg nc Othet agrecments, esprets or I plied.

9. Any provision of this contract prohibited by the law of any province shalt 33 1o that piovince only be inattectivg 10 the extant of sch pro-
hitrtion ang wilhout »inhlidaﬁn%'qm_«_emainmq conditions. if 1he Buyer is & corporation it ag-eas that Sectiong 14, 14A, 148 and 14C of the
Condjlichal Saled Act of the Province of British Columbis and Section 19 of The Condiliona! Sales Acl of the Province of Alberts shall have no
applical.on whatsoevser to this agreement and s!l protection extended thered) is hereby walved. ’ '

The Bu7er hat recaived & copy @ thes Ovder. St

worrantyQondinees bo 1e10vis lor tustomer gigaators.

.dm;]

:

ed at PR {11 : day of 9
ralure ' Order -
' Buyer 2. received by : - . 2 Srlesmy
drncy OrAer / - J
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ROSEDATE MACHINERY SALES LTD.

P.0. BOX 180 — VOX 1X0 — ROSEDALE, B.C. s
TELEPHONE 1941121 VANCOUVER 534-2374 UNIT
Ne. _

The undersigned Vendor sells and the underngned Purcheser (which means oft purchasers wintly ond severa'ly) purchases and covenan's 16 soy ler.
tubiect 1o the terms ond conditiord Nereof, the tollowmng PROPERTY recept of which in good oider ond comdihon 1 herety ockavwistged by

the Purchaser namely
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f.1at Nome ond Intigl - e Block Lentes B>
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Legislative Assembly OMBUDSMAN ’ - 3 :::'m Square
.at \a
Province of British Columbia B Co .
VBW 19
Tatephnre () 387-58%%
2enith 2221

Flle Ytos B3 50440
83 50723

March 6, 1984

Mr. W. Flesher E.N. Nughesn, Q.C.:

Chaf{rman Deputy Attorney Cenarnl

Workers' Compensation Board Sth Floor - 609 Broughton Street
6951 Westminster Highway Victoris, B.C,

Richmond, B.C. V8V 1X4

v6C 1C6

Your File 0140-)
(lamilton = John)

Gentlemen:

1 have recently recefved the encloscd letter from Island Finances
Limfted. As you will sce, it relates to intererst payahle by Mr. .Jshn
Hamilton to lsland Finances, on his loan, Althoush this lnan was acrured
apainst more than the three items sefzed by Sheriff{ Services on behalf of
the Workers' Compensation Board, the total amount owing was less than the
purchase price of those three itcas., A

Island Finances chose to "stop the clock™ on Mr, lamilton's {nterest on

the day on which they were informed of the sefzure by Sheriff Sarvices,

That {s, they have not pursued Mr, Hamilton for this debt. In fact the

Manager, Mr. Bertola, expressed to my investigator his opinfon that

Mr. Hamilton could not be held liable, ethically, for this debt, despite
any legal obligations he may have.

As the enclosed letter is somewhat unclear, 1 will provide Mr. Certnia's
explanation to my investigator. Large principal payments were made by
Mr. Hanmilton on September 14, 1983 (from the sale of timber) and February
21, 1984 (from the sale of his lcase). Thus the principal owing has been
reduced to $2,956.15. Interest owing, though not at this point billed to
Mc. Hamilton, exceeds $19,000.00 since the date of selzure.

,.st"
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I an forwarding this information for your consideration {n any

representations you make to wy letter of February lé4th, 1984, 1 would

anticipate that any formal recommendations 1 may make regarding

compensation owed to Mr, llamilton and Island Finances, jointly or

? severally, would include recognition of those costs outlined {a Mr.

Bertoia's letter. -

Yours sincerely,

\t“?‘CCT.(:;’(;~’) C~A"—

C{"\fl'nl A. Friedzadn
Onbudsman

Enclosure
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| Victdria over 60 5 sary 9—1.62}1:, owned and operated o Phone 386-6381 o Moiling Address - P.O. Box 338, Victerio. B C., V7'* ING .
' | I } . ’ j ’ . .
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UFTCE B i . Felzuary 26, 1984
b t
B Qnbxudsman, -
: 8 bastion Square, .
ViCtDIia, B.CO
~ VBA 1H9 N _ | !
"+’ Attenrion: Dorothy Hayward ' _ _
. °- Dear Madam: . < ) . . . ‘. \ . . ',“ . ,".;
v, Re: our acc.#9538-J. D. Hwmilton . Lot
 Further to our oomrersation, tle statrrent set cut e .
. below shows the balance of our accomt and tlv amaant of - "
! interest outstanding since Mr. Hxilton's equipment wvas o .
VT " - . seized by the workers' Qurpcnsation Doard around the 1st .
: of August, 1982, ‘ . :
Balance as of August 15th, 1982 $63,914.00
Interest for this perlod. - $16,617.64
' Ealance as of Scpterber 14, 1983 $24,350.00
: Interest for this periad. $2,435.00
Balance as of Febrvary 21,1984 = $2,956.15
- L L Total Interest - --. $19,052.64 _$19,052.64
o . . Total Balance owing 2 222,008,713
, ' For your own information, this is to advise that the
cost for us to cbtain this funding for that sxre periud
was $10,296.97. . e e e
- e ' We trust that this is the information you repiire to
assess what our claim against the Workers' Camensation
: ) might be. : . IR . )
,',- L R ' . ..v;.":-. v ,
L . 8 \ory truly,
’ “ ° : v ' | “" .l.‘.;. 'v / /(..- ; 0. ' | ' .'
! T R. E. Bertola/aa - Lo rY. Manager | - 0\-’ SR
: - ecko.e, SR T ' e
j " Delvered by tand, Boen i ‘-
COMPLLTE FINANCE PLANS COVERING BURCMARES OF AUTOMNEILER, Th RS, HAIIEERL A armiieNCES,
4 ‘— COMMERCIAL AND INLUUBTHIAL {0 0jtApmt o, g e, a ™
;- . . R oo . yee . .qm C meiegiqs semamn
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Legislative Asscmbuyl OMBUDSMAN . 8 Rastion Square -

Province of British Columbia Vicloma .
Britgh Cotumbis
vew 1+9
Tatarhars (G04) 3875855
Jenth 2221

Flle No: 8) 03941

Your File 0140-~]
(Hanilton)

March 6, 1984

E.N. Hughes, Q.C.

Deputy Attorney General

Sth Floor - 609 Broughton Street
Victoria, B.C.

vav IX4

Dear Mr. Hughes:

I am in recefpt of your letter of February 28th regarding my complainant,
Mr. John Hamilton,

I appreciate that my letter of February l4th ratsed many conplex {ssucs,
1 note, however, that your Mlinistry has been aware of my involvement in
this case since February 23rd, 1983. Thercfore it seens reasonable to me
to expect that you or your staff have already fnvestigated the facts of

this issue.

I trust that you will be able to respond fully by your propdséd date of
March 15th, 1984, ‘

Yours sincerely,

- ’}
! ‘ . / /° pael
\6.(\(‘ CI“I;‘.(‘.’ .)/L ‘/

0\ Karl A, FrledmanL
Oabudsmsan
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Leglslative Assumbly CMBUDSMAN' 8 Bastion Square -
Piovinge ! dritiah Culumbia Viciona

Tetephone: (604) 387-5855
Zen:th 2221

-

File No: 83 50440
83 50723

March 16, 1984

lir. Ceorge Hl. Copley

Barrister & Solicitor

Covernnent Operations

Civil Law Diviston

MHinistry of Attorney Ceneral

6109 Broughton Strevt

Victourta, B.C,

VY 1as .

Dear Mr, Copley:

1 am writing to conflra our conversation of yesterday regarding the
complaint of Mr. Juhin Hunmfilton of Forwdard Sawmills Ltd.

(m behalf of the Ombudsman I agree to extend to March 30th, 1934 the

period in which representatfons may be uwade in the matter under section
16 of the Oabuldsman Aet,

Yours sincerely,

Rick Cooper
Director of Investigations

cc: E.K. tughes, Q.C.
Di-puty Attorney General

R
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File No: 8} 50%49
83 50723

March 6, 1984

Mr. W. Flesher
Chajirman

Workers' Compensation Board
6951 Westminster Highway
Ri{chmond, B.C.

V6C 1Cé6

Dear Mr. Flesher:

1 have recel{ved no response to date to my letter of March l4th rcg1rdlng
my complainant Mr. Johan Hamilton, of Forward Sawnills Ltd.

Mr. Hughes, Deputy Attorney GCeneral,has written to me ludlcating th1l hls
response will be avallable by lurgh 15th. 1 trust that I shall also'
recelve any representations you wish to make by that date.

Yours sincerely,

§ 'f'C -f)‘—l/

,(l'h('ilrl A. Frledmann
Oubudsman
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21 March 1984

Dr. Yarl A. Friedmann,

Ombud sman,

Legislative Assembly of British Colunbia,

8 Bastion Square, \
Victoria, B.C.

VEW lHY

Your File No. 83-504/40 f% RI-51H721

Dear Dr. Friecdmann:

KE: Forward Sawmills Ltd.
Firm No. 239186

Your lectter dated February 14, 1984, has Leen considered
Ly the Commissioners. ,

Parts 1 and Il of your letter describe two different actions
about which Mr. Hamilton is complaining. It appears to the
Commissioners that Part 11 refers to matters entirely within
the jurisdiction of the Sheriff's Office. They, thercfore,
make no comment regarding Part ll.

The basic question which you are raising in Part 1 is whether
the Eoard can enforce the lien it has under Section 52(2)

of the Workers' Compencation Act against the property of

a principal of a limited company without applyinyg to the
courts. The Cormissioners fecl that you have no jurisdicticn
to deal with this matter since {t is a matter “...in respect
of which there is under an enactment a right of appcal or
objection or a right, to apply for a revicw on the merits

of the case to a court...”" under Section 11(l)(a) of the
Cmbudsman Act. Before the action complained of was carried out,
Mr. Hamilton could have commenced court procecedings and

he could still do this to challenge the Board's actien. The
matters at {ssue are not ones over which the Board would '

have exclusive jurisdiction under Section 96(1) of the Yorkers’
Compensation Act, m

Con' inul"‘.on.o/l

Rachwusat kS
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- wmered b b ddwulllls. Ltd' i '«:h o ’ . e : "If eEE - ‘"( 62 :b
Firm No. 239186 N 21 March 1984 OET

Because they are questioning your jurisdictinn, the Conmiscsioners
are not responding in detail to all the points you have

made. They will state, however, that, without a court determinaticn
of the matter, they are not prepared to conclude that an

error was made by the Board. They also question your suggcstions

as to the amount of loss suffered by Mr. Hamilton as a result

of any action of the Board.

In the result, the Commissioners fecl that the matter you
have raised is one outside your jurisdiction which should
be left to the Courts to determine. They cannot accept your
recommendations.

Yours truly,

/V /ﬂ

N. C. ATTEWELL
Secretary to the Board

NCA:md ‘ A
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V8 13

Telepiene (GO8) I87-28%5
Zermih 22214

File No: 83 50440
8) 50723

April 3, 1984

Mc. W, Flesher

Chairman

Workers' Coapensation Board
6951 Westminster Highway
Richmond, B.C.

VIC 1Cé6

Dear Mr. Flesher:

Re: Filrom #23919%

I an in receipt of Mr, Attewell's letter of Murch 21, 1924, contesting oy
Jurlsdiction to investigate the complaint of Mr. Hamllton, Nirector of
Forward Sawmills Ltd. 1In that letter Mr, Attewell makes refcrence to the
provisions of Section 11(1l)(a) of the Onmhudsman Act,

11. (1) This Act does not authorize the Ombudsman to
investigate a decision, recousvendation, act or omission
(a) in respect of which there 18 under an enactrment g

right of appeal or objectinn ocr a risht to apply for
a review on the merlits of the case to a courL or
tribunal constituted by or under an enactment, until
after that right of appecal, objection or application
has been exercised in the particular case or until
after the time prescribed for the exercise of that
right has expired; or... (my emphasis)

ifr. Attewell does not specify the “enactnment” containing the right which
might preclude my iavestigation.

Perusal of the Workers Compensaticn Act reveals only one statutory appeal
right, that to a Board of Review, and thence to the Conmissioners in
regspect of "a decision under this Act with respect to a worker™, I
dssute that you are not suggesting that the decision of the Board to
instruct sefzure and sale of Mr, Hamilton's personal goodl on a writ

1ss:ed against his company, constitutes a decision with "respect to a
worker” .

Mr. Attewell agrees with my interpretation that the actions of which Mr.
lamilton complained are not within the exclusive jurfsdiction granted the
Board under Section 96(1) of the Workers Conmpensatinon Art, [ can only

. ...2

65




assume, then, that he is arguing jurisdiction on your behalf, on the
basis that Mr. Hamilton may coomence an action under the Judicial Povierw
Procedure Act, or have civil remedies which may have been or may still be
avaflable, such as an application for an injunctfon sgainst the Board or
Sheriff Services, or a suit for damages agalnst the Board.

In my opinion such possible civil remedics do not constitute “nnder an
enactuent a right of appeal or objection or a right to apply for a review
on the merits” contemplated by Section 11(1)(a) of the Oxbuleman Act., On
one occasion an authority suggested that an action under the Judicial
Review Procedure Act fell within the wording of Sectfon 11(1)(a). 1 do
not accept that view. The Ombudeman Act according to case law does nnt
requlire the complainant to exhaust all avenues of Judiclal review before
the Ombudsman can investigate s complaint.

I invite you to contact my solicitior, Mr. Brent Parfitt, {f you wish
further elaboration of my position on this fssue. I trust that this

information will assist you and look forwuard to receiving the Board's
response to my February l4th letter,

Yours sincerely,

e

2
o detrd oS

f-«_Farl A. Friedczann ‘
Oabudsman
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March 30, 1984

Dr. Karl Friedmann
Ombudsman

8 Bastion Square

Victoria, B. C. VW 1HY

Dear Dr. Friedmann

Re: Complaint of John Hamilton
Your files: 83 50440, 83 50723

The Deputy Attorney General has asked me to respond
directly to your letter of February 14, 1984 addressed
jointly to the Chairman of the Workers' Compensation Beard
and himself in respect of the above complaint. In

Mr. Cooper's letter of March 16, 1984 he kindly extended
to March 30, 1984 the period in which representations may

be made in the matter under scction 16 of the Ombudeman
Act.

I am pleased to advise that 1 have intervicwed Deputy
Sheriff Owens and made other enquiries as to the facts and
that has becn completed. Generally, there secms to be no
issue with. the facts. However, there rcmains a very
difficult question of law concerning the interpretation of
scction 52 of the Workers Compensaticon Act in these circum-
stances. Scveral legal opinions have been prcpared and we
do not have a consensus. .

| spoke to Dorothy Hayward today and suggested a possible
solution to this impasse which she said she would ccnvey

to you. We could apply to court by Originating Application
for an interpretation of section 52 on the facts 'in this case
as an Agreed Statement of Facts. Both Sheriff Services and
the Workers' Compensation Board, 1 submit, should have a

very strong interest in attaining certainty in interprctation

of section 52 so that they can avoid excceding their lawful
authority.

Ms. Hayward mentioned some potential concerns you might
have. Certainly, ycu can expect [ull ccoperation from me on

anything that is within my power in moving this complaint
toward resolution.

Yours truly

George H. Coply
Barrister & Solicitor

cc: E. N. Hughes, Q.C.

W. Flesher, Chairman, WCB
S. Rumsey, A/Assistant Deputy Minister

609 BROUGHTON STREET, VICTORIA. BRITISH COUUM4AA VRY Y4 TTLEPHONT (604} 7A4-4424
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Province of British Columbia Betrsh Cotumiia
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Zeruth 2221
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File YNo: 383 50440

Your File 0-140-3
(Hamilcon, John)

April 12, 1984

E.N. Hughes, Q.C.

Deputy Attorney General

5th Floor - 609 Broughton Strect
Victoria, B.C.

v8v 1X4

Dear Mr. Hughes:

On April 9th, 1984 my staff met with Mr, George Copley to discuss your
suagestion that the Ministry procced by way of an Originating Application
for an interpretation of Section 52 of the Workers' Cormpencatinon Act, As
my staff told Mr. Copley, 1 have several conccras about this supjested
resolution. My staff canvassed the opinions of both Mr. Hamilton and
lsland Finances on the issue, and they also ralsed concerns.

Before I agrece to hold this file in abeyance I would like to have your
Ministry's position on the following issucs.

1. Will the Ministry, eifther individually or in conjunction with the
Board, undertake to pay all legal costs of both Mr. Hamilton aud
Island Finances as parties to this action? It may be that Mr.
Hamilton and .Island Finances feel that theilr Interesgs are
sufficiently close that they could present a joint sdbaissfon: at
this stage that 1s not clear. 1 am also assuming that any costs to
Mc. Hamilton and lsland Finances would be within the'range of tariff

usually billed to your Ministry, which is, I understand, $100.00 per
hour
* !

2. Will the Ministry agree, assuming that Court scheduling allows, to
present the applicatioa forthwi{th, 1 would have grave concerns
about agreeing to this suggestion if the matter could not be decided
by this summer. While one cannot predict court schedules, this
natter should be dealt with in Chanbers. Your undertaking, along
with the Board's, to proceed as quickly as possible with the
application would assist me in arriving at a decislon.

'..2




3. Will the Ministry undertake to be bound by the decision of the trial
1 judge, and can you offer any commitment that the Board would also

: agree to this position? 1 can see no reason to suspend oy own

- involvement if it were your intention, or that of the Board, to

" appeal an unfavourable ruling.

- 4, Is there agreement to procced on the application on the facts of
this complaint and only those facts?

Mr. Hamilton has asked that 1 express his concern that he would not be
required to sign any form of relcase or walver of his rights in order to
receive the Minlstry's fiscal support in such an application,

s a1 e L e

— Lastly I wish to make it clear that my lectter of February léth, 1984 did
not exhaust @y concerns in this case. 1If in fact you do proceed to Court
for an interpretation, and it {s decided that Section 52 of the Workers'

— Comnensation Act permitted this seizurc and sale, that would not end ny

"involvecent. It {s likely that I would proceed to outline other apparent
grounds for a finding under the Onbhudsman Act, and that oy
recommendations on those grounds may include a request for compensation
to ir., Hamilton and Island Finances.,

NP O ES Ja

i I trust that you will be able to answer the concerns I have listed, as an
T application to the Courts could have the effect of resolving not only Mc.

Hanllton's complaint, but also any present uacertalintics ia sheriff
practice,

Yours sincerely, ; {

- 7 -
ARy

. ( l//. ’ ’
. , . 1 2 ‘ 7“)/7( f(\——vw
! Farl A. Frledaann

Oabudsman

i .

cc: Mr. W, Flesher
Chairzan

Workers' Compeasation Board

Mr. G, Copley -
Civil Law Solicitor

;
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FILE: 0140-3 (Hamilton, John)

Dr. K. Friedmann A R N R o :
Ombudsman | T PR TR I o
8 Bastion Square - ~. ‘
Victoria, B.C. :
V8V 1X4

Dear Dr. Friedmann

Re: Complaint of Mr. John Hamilton
Your Files: 83 50440, 83 50723

I have been asked to respond directly to your letter
dated April 12, 1984, and addressed to the Deputy
Attorney General in respect of the above complaint.

I set out the Ministry's position on a number of issues

You raised respecting the suqggestion that the parties -
apply by way of Originating Application for an '
interpretation of section 52 of the Workers'

Compensation Act. . _

l. Scheduling = You have requested an undertaking from
the Ministry to proceed as quickly as possible.
This Ministry has no control over counsel not
representing the Crown and therefore cannot give the
undertaking requested. However, I am authorized to
say that this Ministry would fully cooperate in .
bringing an application to Court in a timely manner,

2. Decision of the Trial Judge-This Ministry would
never agree to waive a right of appeal in advance,
nor could it offer any commitment on tehalf of the
Workers' Compensation Board since it is an
independent agency.

3. Facts of this complaint-A special case could be
formulated under Rule 33 setting out the facts
necessary for the court to interpret s. 52.




Costs-Island Financea I.td, hy virtue of {ts pnsitinn
vie a via My Hamilton haa the o imaty futernat fn
pursuing a claim against the Crown for alleged
unlawful seizure and sale by the Sheriff. Island
Finances Ltd. has not chosen to initiate
proceedings. This Ministry could not justify payment
of money out of public funds to provide Island
Finances Ltd. with a lawyer to pursue their claim
against the Crown. As an independent financial
corporation they undoubtedly can afford legal
services to pursue their claim and if they choose
not to do so that is their decision. Also, Mr.
Hamilton should require no representation separate
from Island Finances Ltd. since, presumably, they
have identical interests in attempting to regain the
chattels or obtain compensation for the chattels
seized. I1f there is an issue between Mr. Hamilton
and Island Finances Ltd., then that is separate and
apart from the section 52 issue and the Crown should
not be put to the expense of settling any private
legal differences as between Mr. Hamilton and Island
Finances Ltd. Finally, it must be kept in mind that
if your interpretation of the law is correct and
Island Finances Ltd. takes that position, the Court

would be quite sympathetic to a request for costs in
their favour.

I trust that the above clarifies the position of the

Ministry of Attorney General in response to your letter

dated April 12, 1984. You will appreciate that the
reason for suggesting an application to court was to
clarify the legal position of the parties.

Yours truly.

L # 7

George H. Copley
Barrister and Solicitor

GHC/amtl

C.Co,

Mr. E.N. Hughes, Q.C.
Deputy Attorney General

Mr. W. Flesher
Chairman

Workers' Compensation Board

-
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; VW 1H9 :
Telephone: (604) 387-5855 -
Zenuth 2221

File No: 8) 50440
83 5077)

Your File 0-140-3
(Hazilton, John)

Fira # 239186
May 17, 1984

E.N. Hughes, Q.C. Mr, W. Flesher

Deputy Attorney General Chairwman
Scth Floor - 609 Broughton Street - Workers' Compensation Board
Victoria, B.C. 6951 Westmlinster Highway
V8V 1X4 Richmond, B.C,

vIC 1C6
Centlemen:

Re: Mr, John lamilton, Forward Sawmills Led.

I regret that we have not been able to reach agreement on the Attorney
General's suggestion to procced to court for a determination on the
questions of law related to lMr, Hamilton's cooplaint,

To date 1 have received no response from the Workers' Compensation Board
to my letter of April 3rd. 1 assume, therefore, that the Board does not
intend to make further argument on the question of wy jurisdiction,

In my letter of February l4th I invited representations on my proposed
findinzgs and anticipated recommendations in this matter. Accordingly,
and pursuant to section 16 of the Oabudsman Act, I again invite the
written representations of the Board and of the Ministry, on the facts of
this case and on my anticipated recommendations, by May 25, 1784, On
that date 1 shall decide whether or not to proceed to report oy opinion
and make my recommendations pursuant to section 22 of the Cabudsman Act.

‘ Yours sincerely,

e

<Tz{ﬁ_/<: /G r T 'vﬂ.l c%1~4.cn.a—5
. Yarl A. Friedaann

J Ombudsman

cc: Mr. G. Copley
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Attention: Mr. Brent Parfitt

Dear Sirs:

Re: Hamilton

Further to your letter of May 22, 1944, and our
telephone conversation of June 7, 1984, you have requested our
opinion concerning the enforcement of the "lien'" crecated by Section
52 of the Workers Compensation Act, R.S.B.C. 1979, :C. 437 (the
"Act"), and, in particular, the enforceability of that licn against
property owned by a director of the corporation against which an
: assessment is made where that property is used in, or in connection
- with, ghe industry with respect to which the corporation was
assessed.

— It s clear from the Act that certain definite
Semedles are provided to the Workers' Compensation Board (the

board") where an assessment is made against an emplover, that

_ cmployer is a corporation and the assessment remains unpaid. Those
remedies are provided specifically in Section 45 of the Act. Under
that section, the Board can convert an unpaid assessment. to a
judgment simply by filing a certificate with any District Kegistrar
of the Supreme Court or any Registrar of the County Court. There-
after, the certificate "... becomes an Order of that Court and may
be enforced as a judgment of the Court against that person for the
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amount mentioned in ‘the certificate."

Although the Board 1is given the extraordinary
right to a judgment without due process, the Legislature has also
seen fit to expand the Board's rights by creating a lien in
priority to all other charges of whatever nature, whcnever created,
with respect to that property used by the employer in the business
with respect to which an assessment has been made. The effect of
this 1is <clear. If the employer carries on three separate
businesses and an assessment is made in respect of one of those
businesses, the Board can obtain a judgment which is enforceable
against all of the asscts of that employer (i.e., the assets of all
these businesses). Therefore, the Board could issue a Writ of
Seizure and. Sale instructing the sheriff to seize and sell
sufficient of the employer's assets (without regard to where those
assets are located or in which industry they are used). However,
if the sheriff seizes assets of the employer used by the employer
in the business for which an assessment has been made, then, upon a
sale of those assets, Section 52 of the Act gives the Board the
right to payment out of the sale proceecds in pricrity to any and
all other charges. If assets are sold from one ovf the other two
busincsses carried on by the employer, no such absolute priority
exists, and the Board will be paid out subject to the rights of
other creditors, both secured and unsecurecd.

The Act is not quite so clcar with respect to
the rights of the Board under Subsections 52(2) and (2). Although
Subsection 52(2) purports to extend the 52(1) lien to cover "...
the property of any director, manager or other principal of the
corporation where the property is used in, or in conncction with,
the industry with respect to which the employer was assesscd ...",
there is no applicable provision for the cnforcement of that lien.
Section 45 of the Act states that the certificate, '... when so
filed, becomes an Order of that Court and may be enforced as a
judgment of the Court against that person for the amount mentioned
in the certificate" (emphasis added]. The words "agalnst that
person'' refer to the person by whom the asscssment was payable, as
stated earlier in Section 45(2). The person by whom the assessment
is payable in this situation is Forward Sawmills Ltd., and
therefore that is the person against whom the order is enforceable,
not John Hamilton. Therefore, the interaction described above
between "Sections 45 and 52 of the Act is not applicable when it
concerns property owned, in this case, by Mr. Hamilton.

) Subsection 52(3) appears to be an attempt to
Erovxde for the enforcement of the lien created by both Subscctions
52(1) and 52(2). The major difficulty with the application of
52(3) 1is that it is not stated that the provisions of the Court
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Order Enforcement Act are to apply mutatis mutandus. It is our
opinion that these ‘words are crucial to the application of Sub-
section 52(3) and the application of the provisions of the Court
Order Enforcement Act to the Act, as the Court Order Enforcement
Act deals with the rights and remedies of unsecured creditors
whereas the lien rights, as created by Section 52 of the Act, make
the Board the holder of a security interest and takes it outside of
the provisions of the Court Order Enforcement Act.

Subsections 52(2) and (3) must be construed
strictly as the Act (at least with respect to the collection of
assessments) is a taxing statute and, as a general principle of
statutory interpretation, taxing statutes must be construed
strictly against the government. In addftion, the Legislature has
purported to crcate a very extraordinary remedy (both in 52(1) and
in 52(2)), and we are of the opinion that a Court of law would look
very closely at these '"rights” and would be loath to enforce such
rights against individuals such as Mr. Hamilton in the absence of
very, very clear language. 1he Board has been given the right to
convert certificates representing unpaid assessments to judgment
without due process, and this is a matter which we believe a Court
would also take into account when considering the Board's rights as
against an individual such as Mr. Hamilton. '

We trust the above is in order. If you have any

further questions, please do not hesitate to contact either Douglas
Hyndman or the writer.

Yours very truly,
FREEMAN & COMPARY

i

) Y

I )

Per: !
Leon Cetz

LG/ jg




%0 Legislative Assembly ‘i OMDUDSMAN “weashon Square -

- : Vcura
’
y ,:, wr? Province of British Columbia Brereh Cchurbia
(25N Ve 1My
e Te'rphora (£04) J67-5855

Jeran 2221

File Ko: 81 50440
83 50773

Your File 0-140-3
(Hazilton, John)

Fira # 239186

June 18, 1984 ‘

E.N. Hughes, Q.C. Mr. W. Flesher
Deputy Attorney General v Chairman
Sth Floor - 609 Broughton Street Workers® Coapensation Board
Victoria, B.C. 6951 Westninster Highway
veév 1xX4 Richmond, B.C.

V7€ 1C6
Centlemen:

Re: Mr, John lami{lton, Forward Sawnills Ltd,

1 am in receipt of Mr. Copley's lctter of llay 24, 1984, belny a response
on behalf of the Ministry of Attorney Gencral, and of Mr, Attcwell's
‘letter, of May 28th, 1984, on bchalf of the Workers' Cumpensation Board,
The Board continues to dispute my Jurisdiction to investigate
Mr. Hamilton's complaint, arguing that I am precluded from an
. investigation by section 11(1)(a) of the Ombudrman Act., To the Board,
the tmbudsman Act was not intended to give my office jurisdiction over
matters within the ordinary jurisdiction of the court., Further the Board
argues that the fact that the Supreme Court of British Columbia could, if
the matter were before it, make a decision "on the cerits™ of thie case,
precludes my involvement.

I do not share the Board's opinion. Rather 1 share the oplnfon prepared

in 1979 by Ms. P. Evans, an articling student of the Mialstry of Attorney
Ceneral:

"The object of a statute such as the Mbudsmin Act is to glve an
applicaat a quick, easy and inexpensive way of having his problens
looked into, The statute does not scek to usurp the jurisdiction of
the court.,, His (the Ombudsman's) jurisdiction {s largely concerned
with areas which, if the matters were ever taken to court, would be
-found to fall outside the scope of judicial review. To suggest that
‘an applicant may be required to exhaust all other forms of recourse
including Jjudicial review, would be to go against the spirit of tnis
particular statute”.,.

.loz



I remain of the opinion that possible ci{vil rcmed!es avallable to Mr.
Ham{lton do not constitute a right “under an enactment... to apply for a
review on the merits” contemplated by section 11(1)(a) of the Ombuds=an
Act. Accordingly, and pursuant to section 22 of the Onbudsman Act 1 now
Teport my opinions and make my recozmendations oa the coasplaliat of Mr,
Joha Hamilton.

Before proceeding to detail my opinfons, 1 wish to make three points,
Firstly, the opinions and recoczendations are based only on the arguments
given in my letter of February l4th, 1984, written pursuant to section 16
of the Ombudsman Act. As previously mentioned, 1 reserve the right to
reach findings and to make recommendations based on other apparently
problematic actions in this sefzure and sale at a later date, 1if
necessary. As this letter does not deal with these other actions, I do

not intend to comzent on Mr. Copley's opinifon as to the “equities of this
case”,

Secondly, I note the Ministry of Attorney Gencral's attexapt to resolve
the legal question basic to this complaint. The Ministry has nczotiated
with my staff and myself on the possibflity of a referral to the court by

~ the HMinistry, requesting an {interpretation of section 52 of the Workers

Corrensation Act, using this case as an agrced statenent of facts, 1lat
suzisestion was made in late March, in a letter of which the Board
received a copy. Regrettably I was not able to reach azreement with the
Minlstry as to the teras on which I would suspend wy favestization in
favour of the application., As the Board, though fully tnformed, chose
not to participate in this atteopt to resolve the catter, 1 was surprised
to learn that the Board now proposes to initfate its own actioa in the
courts, As yet I have not been apprised of the naturc of this:action,

Lastly I infora you that 1 have received the opinion of Mr. Leon Cetz,

barrister & solicitor. Mr. Getz' opinion con{iras my Interpretation of
the law ia this matter:

“"The person by whom the assessment {s payable in this

situatlion is Forward Sawmills Ltd., and therefore that is the

person against whoam the order is enforceable, not John

Ham{lton, Therefore, the interaction described above between

Section 45 and 52 of the Act is not applicable whea it

concerns property owned, in this case, by Mr, Hazilton."
Pursuant to section 22 of the Onbhudsman Azt 1 report my opinions as
follows, These opinions are expressed naming the individual employees
involved in this seizure and sale. I do not intend that my opinion be

0003




“construed, necessarily, as criticism of those individuals. Deputy
Sheriff Owens and Mr. Robertson were without policy or other advice on
the legal question. 1In fact they are to be complimented for having takeno
the initial step of questioning their ability to act on the apparently
valid writ to haad,

Nevertheless, firstly, it is my opinion that Deputy Sheriff Owens opade a
mistake of law by proceeding to sale of the seized itens on wvrits issued
against Forward Sawmi{lls Ltd. Secondly, it is amy opimlon that Deputy
Sheri{ff Owens was negligent in proceeding to sell the seized {tems
without seeking legal advice as to the validity of the sefzure: the
negligeace arises once Deputy Sheriff Owens became aware that the Board
could not confira his interpretation of section 52 of the Workers
Compensation Act,

Thirdly, it is my opinion that Mr, K.C. Roberteon was negligent {ia
authorizingz the sheriff to accept the bid without obtaining legal advice
as to the validity of the sefzure: the negligence arises when

Mr. Robertson authorized the sale knowing that he had received no
response to his request for Mr., Massing's opinion., Llastly it is my
opinion that Deputy Sher{ff Owens acted fmproperly in receiving the
amount of $3,710.00 from Mr. Lloyd, as some form of 'payment® for the
second skidder without confirmation from Mr, Hami{lton that his allegation

of theft had been withdrawn in favour of an agreesent to sell for a price
certain,

In my letter written pursuant to section 16 of the Ombudsman Act [
outlined two proposed recommendations, both of which would Berve to
coppensate Island Finances Ltd. and Mr, llam{lton for their losses. I
have considered whether or not to make a direct recomaendation,
specifying a specific quantum and apportioning liability between the
Ministry and the Board., Such & recommendation would require expert
knowledge of the condition of the equipment seized, and of the market

prices of such equipaent today, Such knowledge is not readlly available
to me,

Accordingly, and pursuant to section 22 of the Ombudsman Act, I recomzend
that the Ministry and the Board submit to arbitration pursuant to the
Arbitration Act. Further I recommend that the arbitrator or arbitrators
appointed be instructed to accept my £indings above and be eampovered to
decide the following questioas: :

1. the azount of compeasation to be paid to lIsland Finances Ltd.;

2,  the agount of compensation to be paid to Mr, John Hanilton; and

l..a
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3. the proportionate liability of the Board and the Ministry for avwards
zade to Island Finances Ltd. and to Mc, Hamilton,

Pursuant to section 23 of the Ombndaman Act I request that you notify wme,
in writing, by July 5th, 1984 of the steps taken to given effect to oy
reconsendation, or of your reasoa for not so doing.

Yours sincercly,

. j/) -/)l&f...,.,,._.

Knrl A, Ftlcdmann
,/ Onbudszan

/7




-~ wHIIDu Yy Vi

British Columbla

Attorney General

~ Legal Services

June 25, 1984

Dr. Karl Friedmann
‘Ombudsman

8 Bastion Square
Victoria, B.C.

VBV 1X4

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

RE: Complaint of Mr. John Hamilton
Your File: 83 50440, 83 50723

OUR FILE:

0140-3 THamilton)

1 have been asked to reply directly to your letter dated
June 18, 1984, and addressed to the Deputy Attorney General
and the Chairman of the Workers' Compensation Board, in respect

of the above complaint.

Now that the Workers' Compensation Board has proposed to
initiate legal action in the Courts to settle the Board's
Rights in this matter, I suggest that it {s premature tc

submit to arbitration those questions listed on pages 3 and &

of your letter. While 1 cannot speak for the Workers'
Compensation Board, until the questfon of liability is

settled by the Court, it is my respectful view that there are
no differences between the Board and the Ministry of Attorney

General which coculd form the basis for a submissiocn of an

arbitrator.

1t may be that the Court will answer the questions rafsed on
pages 3 and 4 of your letter during the course of the Board's

action. If it dues not and those questions remain as issues
toc be settled, then it will be up to the parties involved
to best decide the procedure to be adopted.

Yours truly,

v
e G
GEORGE M. COPLEY y

Barrister
Legal Services Branch -

GliC/bas

¢.¢c. E.N. Hughes, Q.C.
Mr. David J. Warren
Mr. W. Flesher

609 BROUGHTON STREET, VICTORIA, BRITISH COLUMBIA VBV 1X4  TELEPHONE : (514) 384-4434
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6 July 1984

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann,

Ombud sman,

Legislative Assembly of British Columbia,
8 Bastion Square,

Victoria, B.C.

VBW 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmahn:

RE: John Hamilton
Forward Sawmills Ltd.

Your letter received by the Board on June 20, 1984, has
been considered by the Commissioners.

The Commissioners do not consider that your letter provides
any prounds for their changing their conclusion communicated
1 to you in my previous letters of May 28 and March 21, 1984.
(S They remain of the opinion that this matter is one which

* is outside your jurisdiction. With respect to the opinion

of Ms. Evans which you quote, it is difficult to comment
without seeing the context in which her statement was made.
However, she appears to be referring to judicial review
proceedings. As pointed out in my letter of May 28, 1984,
the Commissioners are not, in this case, relying on the

b availability of proceedings under the Jjudicial Review Procerdure
: Act.,

The Board will, in the near future, be commencing a court

action in which all parties affected will be able to participate

and raise questions for the resolution of the court. The Comnission-
‘ ers consider that Court procecdings are the appropriate

. way of settling any disputes regarding this matter.

A
Yours truly, . R

)L ot o

b ' LK
LAY
- M. C. ATTEWELL

L Secretary to the Board

~‘3'~\ .,& .
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APR 91985

RE: WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
BETWEEN:
WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

PETITIONER

AND:

KARL A. FRIEDMANN, OMBUDSMAN
OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH
COLUMBIA

RESPONDENT

G.W. Massing and
E.D. Bates

F.S. Borowicz

Date and place of Hearing:

W-385

NO. A842422
Vancouverkkcgistry

‘,4lf§ THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT

OF THE HONOURABLE

MR. JUSTICE GIBBS

IN CHAMBERS

for the Petitioner;

for the Respondent;

Monday, April 1, 1985,
Vancouver, B.C.
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This is a petition under the Judicial Review Procedure
Act, ﬁSBC, 1979, Chap. 209. The Workers' Compensation Board ("WCB")
requests an order, a declaration, and an injunction, in respect of
decisions made, and action undertaken, or to be undertaken, by the
Ombudsman on a complaint by one John Hamilton, a director of Forward

Sawmills Ltd. ("Forward”). The precise relief requested is:

(1) An order, pursruant to Section 2(2) (a) of the
Judicial Review Procedure Act, 0.0 10,0, 1979,
Chapter 209, quashing the decisions, findings
and recommendations contained in the Ombudsman's

" letter addressed to the Deputy Attorney General
and the Chairman of the Workers' Compensation
Board and received by the Workers' Compensation
Board on 20 June 1984 in respect of a complaint
by Mr. John Hamilton, Director of Forward
Sawmills Ltd.;

(2) A declaration, pursuant to Section 2(2) (b) of
the Judicial Review Procedure Act, R.S.B.C.
1979, Chapter 209, that the Ombudsman had no
jurisdiction pursuant to the Ombudsman Act,
R.S.B.C. 1979, Chapter 306, to investigate the
said complaint of Mr. John Hamilton;

(3) An injunction, pursuant to Section 2(2) (b) of
the Judicial Review Procedure Act, R.S.B.C. .
1979, Chapter 209, prohibiting the Ombudsman
from taking further action in respect of the
said complaint.

These proceedings arise out of a collection by the WCB

of the outstanding and unpaid assessments levied upon Forward under

the Workers Compensation Act, RSBC 1979, Chap. 437 for the years

1978, 1979, and 1980. By virture of section 52(1) of the Act, the
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WCB had a lien on the property or proceeds of property of Forward
used in connection with its business. Section 52(2) defines the
word "property" to include the property of any director, manager
of-other principal of Forward where the property is used in connec-

tion with Forward's business.

Acting under section 45 of the Workers Compensation

Act, the WCB filed certificates of the indebtedness of Forward
with the Coﬁnty Court of Vancouver Island, Nanaimo Registry, and
thereby obtained summary judgmeht. In all, three certificates
were filed. Each was followed by a Writ of Seizure and Sale. The
style of cause of each certificate, and of each writ, describes

the WCB as judgment creditor and Forward as judgment debtor.

The writs of seizure and sale were forwarded for
exeéut?on to the sheriff's office at Campbeil River for execution.
A caterpillar bulldozer and mountain logéer skidder, the property
of Hamilton, were seized and sold and $3,800 allocated to the WCB
out of the sale price. Later the sheriff's office seized the
proceeds of sale of another mountain logger skidder, apparently
belonging to Hamilton, and allocated $2,676.48 to the WCB out of

the seized funds.

As there was no certificate, no judgment, and no writ
against him, Hamilton complained to the Ombudsman, who undertook

an investigation. Lengthy correspondence between the Ombudsman,
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the WCB, and the Deputy Attorney General ensued. I was advised,
when argument commenced before me, that the Ombudsman has completed
his»work to the point of submitting a report to the Lieutenant

Governor in Council pursuant to section 24 of the Ombudsman Act,

RSBC, 1979, Chap. 306.

The portions of the letter referred to in the first
paragraph of the prayer for relief, in respect of which the WCB

applies for an order to quash, are as follows:

Nevertheless, firstly, it is my opinion that Deputy Sheriff
Ovens made a mistake of law by proceeding to sale of the
seized items or writs issued against Forward Sawmills Ltd.
Secondly, it is my opinion that Deputy Sheriff Owens was
negligent in proceeding to sell the seized items without
seeking legal advice as to the validity of the seizure; the
negligence arises once Deputy Sheriff Owens became aware
that the Board could not confirm his interpretation of
section 52 of the Workers Conpensation Act.

Thirdly, it is my opinion that Mr. K.G. Robertson was
negligent in authorizing the sheriff to accept the bid
without obtaining legal advice as to the validity of the
seizure: the negligence arises when Mr. Robertson authorized
the sale knowing that he had received no response to his
request for Mr. Massing's opinion. lastiy it is my opinion
that Deputy Sheriff Owens acted improperly in receiving the
amount of $3,710.00 from Mr. Lloyd, as some form of 'payment'
for the second skidder without confirmation from Mr. Hamilton
that his allegation of theft had been withdrawn in favour of
an agreement to sell for a price certain.

Accordingly, and pursuant to section 22 of the Qmbudsman Act,
I recamend that the Ministry and the Board submit to
arbitration pursuant to the Arbitration Act. Further I
recammend that the arbitrator or arbitrators appointed be
instructed to accept my findings above and be empowered to
decide the following questions:
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1. the amount of compensation to be paid to Island
Finances Ltd.;

2. the amount of campensation to be paid to Mr. John
Hamilton; and

3. the proportiocnate liability of the Board and the
Ministry for awards made to Island Finances Ltd.
and to Mr. Hamilton.

It was argued that the Ombudsman has usurped the authority

of the court in making a determination of tort liability and the
method of measuring damages; that he has exceeded or lost jurisdic-
tion by investigating a matter he is precluded from investigating by

section 11(1) (a) of the Ombudsman Act, and that he erroneously

interpreted that section; that he exceeded or lost jurisdiction when
he concluded that the matter was one "of administration" within the

meaning of section 10 of the Ombudsman Act; and that he exceeded his

authority by investigating a matter outside his jurisdiction.

In my opinion the WCB is not entitled to the relief
requested because the questions are now academic. In the recent

unreported decision of the Court of Appeal in Peltari v. Director of

Lower Mainland Regional Correctional Centre and the Attorney General

of British Columbia (1985), Vancouver Registry CA 003031 reference

was made to the judgment of the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal in

Maltby et al and the Attorney General of Saskatchewan et al (1984)

13 ooc (3d) 308. In that case, at page 311, Chief Justice Bayda

said:

W-365
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It is well-settled practice, however, of this court,
as it is of the Supreme Court of Canada and the
courts of appeal of other jurisdictions, to refuse
to entertain an appeal where the issue has becane
moot, except where the circumstances are of the
demanding nature found in such cases as the Winmnipeg
Builders' Exchange case and Re A.-G. Que. and A -G.
n. (1982), 140 D.L.R. (3d) 385, [1982] 2 S.C.R.
793, 45 N.R. 317 8ub nom. Quebee (mstitutional
Mmendment Reference (No. 2) (S.C.C.). While the
issues raised by the application here are important,
in our respectful view, they are not sufficiently
demanding of a resolution to bring them within the
principle of the Winnipeg Builders' Exchange case.

In my opinion, the issues raised by the WCB are moot.
Even if the grounds were established, the issue of the requested
order, declaration and injunction would serve no purpose. With

the exception of reporting to the Legislature Assembly under section

24 of the Ombudsman Act, and that is a discretionary matter, the
Ombudsman has completed his work. He has conducted his investiga-
tion, he has formulated his opinions, he has made his recommendations,
and he has delivered his report. It would be pointless now to
conclude that he could not do what he has done, particularly since,
on the'evidence before me, none of the legal rights or liabilities
of the WCB, or Hamilton for that matter, have been altered or
impaired. I was réferred to nothing, and I have found nothing,
which prevents the WCB from declining to accept or follow the
Ombudsman's opinions on law or jurisdiction, and declining to accede
to his recommendation as to remedy. If the WCB does so decline,

it will be up to Hamilton to pursue whatever remedies are available

to him by way of appropriate proceedings, and if he does so, the

W-368
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decision will be made upon the evidence before the court and the
application of the relevant law, regardless of the Ombudsman's

findings.

A number of Ombudsman cases were cited to me. It should

be noted that none resulted from a challenge made after the

Ombudsman had completed his work. 1In BCDC and First Capital v.

Friedman et al (1985) 1 WWR 193 (SCC) the case arose out of a refusal

by BCDC to produce documents demanded by the Ombudsman at the com-

mencement of an investigation. In Ombudsman of Ontario and Health

Disciplines Board of Ontario et al (1979) 104 DLR (3d) 597 (Ont.

C.A.), the matter was initiated by a reference by the Ombudsman under
a section of the Ontario Act comparable to section 11(3) of the B.C.

Ombudsman Act. That was also the situation in Ombudsman for

Saskatchewan and Minister of Social Services et al (1979) 103 DLR

(3d) 694 (Sask. Q.B.), and Ombudsman of Nova Scotia v. Sydney Steel

Corporation et al (1976) NSR (2d4) 361 (N.S.C.A.). None of those

cases therefore is helpful or persuasive on the issue on which I

dispose of the case before me.

There is another reason why the WCB cannot succeed. The

‘application was made under the Judicial Review Procedure Act. In

my opinion, in these circumstances, the WCB does not have the

standing necessary to maintain proceedings under the Act. Although

W-385
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the Ombudsman exercises a "statutory power" when he investigates,
the decisions he made in this case have not decided or prescribed
"the legal rights, powers, privileges, immunities, duties or
liabilities" of either the WCB or Hamilton. It was argued that if

the Judicial Review Procedure Act did not apply, the petitioner

could come before the court under rule 10(l) of the Rules of Court.

I think not. Rule 10(1) is procedural in nature. It does not
confer standing. It is predicated upon an assumption that the
applicant has standing. It then sets out a procedure to follow
if the application addresses any of the subject matters therein
enumerated. In my opinion the WCB was not properly before the

court under elthex the Judicial Review Procedure Act or rule 10(1)

of the kules of Court.

et

For all. of the reasons I have given, the petition is

dlsmlssed w1thJcQSts to the respondent.
3
P

L, -
o ™

g

Vancouver, B.C.
April 9, 1985.
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REPORT . o
7o }
THE LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR IN COUNCIL

Pursuant to section 24(1) of the Ombudsman Act, R.S.B.C. 1979, c. 306

Re: In the matter of the complaint of Mr. J.D. Hamilton that the
- Sheriff Services Branch of the Ministry of Attorney General (the
sheriffs) sold for less than fair value, equipment seized from him
pursuant to certificates issued by the Workers' Compensation Board
(the Board) and in the matter of whether or not that sale could —
lawfully proceed from the writs issued pursuant to the Board's
certificates,

In February 1983 I received a complaint from Mr, J.D., Hamilton, Director
of Forward Sawmills Ltd. The complaint was directed agalnst the
sheriffs, who had seized equipment belonging to Mr. Hamilton, (two
skidders and a caterpiller tractor), used in the operation of his logging
company. The company was not carrying on business so the equipment was
stored at Forward Harbour at the time of the sefzure, July, 1982, One
skidder and a caterpiller tractor were sold by the sheriff, at public -
tender, in January 1983. The last item, the other skidder, was sold
without tender, a month later. The sheriff received a total sum of
$9,500.00, plus sales tax from the sale. This satisfied the Board's
writs of seizure and sale, which totalled $6,476.48.

Mr, Hamilton brought many concerns to my office: Why, he asked, had the

sheriff sold for $9,500.00, goods for which he had paid over $78,000,00? w
Why had the sheriff refused to seize logs owned by his company, instead

of the equipment? What was he supposed to do about his chattel mortgage

on the equipment, on which $60,000.00 was still owing to lsland Finances —
Ltd.? Why had the sheriff sold the second skidder to the purchaser of
the first two items, when the sheriff knew that the purchaser had removed
that skidder from Forward Harbour without authority, and that Mr.
Hamilton may allege theft thereby? Why were the sheriff's costs so

high? $2,500.00 on a debt of only $6,500.00? Why did the Board have
these assets seized, effectively putting him out of business for such a
small debt, when the finance company was willing to wait to collect on a
debt ten times as large? :

All of these were complaints within my mandate, and I began a lengthy —
investigation of the actions of both the Board and the sheriffs. During

that investigation I became aware of another factor, so crucial that I

have focused my investigation to date on that factor alone, reserving the

right to address all other issues at a later date if necessary. The

paramount question which emerged was whether the sheriff could lawfully

seize and sell on these writs of seizure equipment that was owned not by

‘the Board's debtor, Forward Sawmills Ltd., but by an individual, namely

Mr. Hamilton,

0002 -
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I commenced a detailed investigation of this question. My staff obtained
the files of both the Boatd and the sheriffs, and have discussed the
matter with staff of both agencies. - Additionally, I sought an outside
legal opinion from a recognized practitioner in the field of debt
collections, I reviewed this information, together with the
representations I received from both the Ministry and the Buvard, and 1
have concluded that the sale of this equipment could not lawfully proceed
from the writs at hand.

The final report of my investigation, the preliminary reports, legal
opinion, and representations, are attached as appendices herein., The
issue is somewhat complex, but may be summarized as follows:

- The Board commenced action to obtain certificates and writs
agalnst Forward Sawmills Ltd., for unpaid assessments, These
certificates were made in accordance with section 45 of the
Workers Compensation Act, and name the judgment debtor as Forward
Sawmills Ltd.

- The sheriffs received the writs, and seized equipment which was
known to be owned personally by Mr. Hamilton, and not by the
company. It is clear from the sheriff's file that, on receipt of
the writs and imstruction to seize, the individual sheriff
involved in this seizure believed that his action was lawful, and
that his lawful right was acquired pursuant to section 52 of the
Workers Compensation Act.

- After seizure, but before sale, the sheriff learned from an
employee of the Board, that his interpretation of section 52 may
not be shared by the Board., The sheriff wrote to that employee,
requesting clarification.

- In response, a memorandum was issued to the Board's Legal Services
Division. The memorandum laid out the problem and suggested the

solicitor obtain an order pursuant to section 52(2) of the Workers

Compensation Act, which would allow the sale of equipment owned by
an individual director of the company. The memorandum notes that
the Board's “"policy” was that section 52 did not, of itself,
“"permit the Board the right to seize equipment”, (See appendix A,
dated 82.12.16)

- No reply to that memorandum was received, and the requested order
was not obtained. Knowing that, the Board's employee authorized
the sheriff to take appropriate steps to sell the equipment to the
highest bidder.

All of these facts were detailed in my letter of February 14, 1984,

written to both the Ministry of Attorney General and the Board pursuant

to section 16 of the Ombudsman Act. Neither the Board nor the Ministry
has taken issue with the facts outlined in my initial report. In facrt,

vred
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the Board's only response was to argue my jurisdiction. The Ministry, on
the other hand, confirmed their difficulty in achieving a definitive
interpretation of the law in this matter, and proposed a resolution.

The Ministry of the Attorney General proposed that it would apply to
Court for an interpretation of section 52 of the Workers Compensation
Act, using Mr. Hamilton's case as the factual basls for focusing the
issue., This seemed a helpful route to follow, and 1 was prepared to
suspend my investigation to allow this to happen. Regrettably, 1 could
not reach agreement with the Ministry on the terms of such a resolution.
I felt the Crown should bear any legal costs accruing to my complainant,
1 could see no reason why Mr., Hamilton should bear the cost of the
Crown's inability to confirm the meaning of its legislation, particularly
when Mr. Hamilton may be only one of many individuals whose legal
position needs such clarification.

The Board was continually informed of my negotiation with the Ministry,
but chose not to participate. After the Board had been informed that the
Ministry and 1 could not agree on a resolution, it wrote to me again.
Again the Board coantested my jurisdiction. It also finformed me of its
intention to "initiate a legal action in the courts to settle the Board's
rights in this matter™. To date I have not been told the nature of this
action, and have not beea informed that any action has been coumenced.

As neither the Board nor the Ministry disputed the facts revealed by my
investigation or produced any opinion or precedent to counteract the
legal opinion I obtained, I issued my final report in this matter. I
have substantiated the complaint that the sale of Mr, Hamilton's
equipment was a mistake in law, and have recommended that the Board and
the Ministry submit to arbitration to determine the actual amount of
compensation owing, and their proportionate liability.

The Board has replied, stating again its intention to go to court. I
remain unaware of the exact nature of the Board's intended action, The
Ministry has taken the position that my recommendation is premature,
because the matters may be decided by the Board's application to the
court. Yet, I have not been informed that any action has been commenced
and I know nothing of what such an action may involve, or when it would
be decided.

Meanwhile, my complainant is without the equipment necessary if his
company 1s ever to resume business., le has sold his logs and his timber
lease to the $60,000.00 owing on the chattels which were sold by the
sheriffs. 1Island Finances Ltd., the mortgagee has not yet billed

Mr. Hamilton the $19,000.00 interest accrued on the debt since the
equipment was seized by the sheriff. In my opinion, it 1s unjust to
expect Mr, Hamilton, or Island Finances, to continue to bear the burden
of this situation. To force them into the courts and to subject them to
further delay and unknown costs for legal representation is, I believe,
unreasonable.

-
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Accordingly, I request your assistance in this matter, I request that
the Board and the Ministry of Attorney General be directed to take the
corrective action outlined in my recommendations attached hereto. 1
shall attempt to respond to any requests you have for further informatien
which you may require.

7, e

&
Karl A, Friedmann
Onbud sman
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Dr. Karl A. Friedmann
Ombudsman

8 Bastion Square

Victoria, British Columbia
VBW 1HS

Dear Dr. Friedmann:
Re: Your report to the Lieutenant Governor

in Council re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton /
Forward Sawmills Ltd.

As I am sure you are aware, the Workers' Compensation
Board has commenced court proceedings with respect to
this matter. It would be inappropriate to take a
position with respect to your recommendations pertaining
to Arbitration until the court has dealt with the
matter. In particular, the issues to be arqued before
the court pertaining to section 11 (1) (a) of your Act
could give a very definitive response to your
recommendation of Arbitration.

It would seem appropriate that we all await the
adjudication of the presiding judge. Once he has spoken,
immediate further consideration will be given to your
report by the Cabinet.

Yours truly,

}
i

/gZ/Z{” éé/)(/ < ‘( |

R.H., McClelland
Minister

cc: Honourable E.N. Hughes
Mr. Bert Hick

,Lc\ D».’a
ARy '
("\‘«\ A —v)
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Legislative Assembly OMBUDSMAN 8 Bastion Square
Province of British Columbia Victoria
British Columbia
VBW 1Hg
Telephone  (604) 387-5855
Zenith 2221

February 5, 1985

The Honourable W.R. Bennett, P.C.

Premier of the Province of British Columbia
Parliament Buildings

Victoria, B.C.

V8V 1X4

Dear Mr. Bennett:
Re: Report of the Ombudsman

to the Lieutenant Governor in Council
re Mr. J.D. Hamilton/Forward Sawmills Ltd.

I am responding to Mr. McClelland's letter of October %1, 1984, a copy of
which is enclosed. 1 realize that the questions of whether I am
precluded from investigating the Hamilton case by virtue of section
11(1)(a) of the Ombudsman Act is before the Courts. However, my
investigation has long since been completed and I have made my
recommendations. Even if the Workers' Compensation Board were to succeed
in their application to the Court, the Court's decision would not
preclude Cabinet from considering and implementing my recommendations.

As you know, the Court challenge does not address the merits of Mr.
Hamilton's complaint. He is not a party to the case, and the decision of
the Court will not resolve his predicament. In the meantime, the Courts

are extremely busy, the wheels of Jjustice move slowly and Mr. Hamilton
continues to bear the brunt of the Board's errors.

I musat also point out that the Ministry of Attorney General is also an
authority involved in this complaint. The Ministry of Attorney General
has not challenged my jurisdiction. The Ministry of Attorney General has
suggested that there is no legal consensus on the interpretation employed
by the Board of this section of the Workers Compensation Act. In fact,
the Ministry has suggested that the Courts be asked to make a
determination of the law. The matter I have investigated concerning the
Workers' Compensation Board's procedures will not be dealt with by the
Courts in the application by the Board regarding my Jjurisdiction.
Regardless of the outcome of that application, I believe that the
Hamilton complaint should be counsidered by Cabinet.

...2
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In my opinion, it would be in everyone's interest that this problem be
dealt with. The matter is separate from the Workers' Compensation
Board's Court action, and will not be dealt with by the Court. My
solicitor advises that I am not in contempt of Court Wy asking Cabinet to
consider my report, nor would I be by placing a report before the
Legislative Assembly.

I hope that Cabinet will review its position in this mtter and consider
the substance of my report.

Yours sincerely,

924

L7, Wore o

Karl A. Friedmann
Ombudsman
knclosure

RS-
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Province of ) Ministry of : Partiament Buildings 9 9
British Columbia ™ intergovernmental = Victoria .
Relations Bntish Columbia
VeV 1X4

OFFICE OF THE N
CABINET SECRETARIAT

March 13, 1985

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann L .
Ombudsman : L '
8 Bastion Square ' :
Victoria, B.C.

VBW 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

Re: Report of the Ombudsman to the Lieutenant Governor
in Council re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton/Forward Sawmills Ltd.

On October 5, 1984, the then Minister of Labour
wrote to you indicating that he thought it inappropriate
to take a position with respect to your recommendations
until the Court had spoken on the application challenging
your jurisdiction in this matter.

On February 5, 1985, you responded to
Mr. McClelland's letter of October 31, 1984. You pointed
out that the Courts are extremely busy, and the wheels of
Justice move slowly.

I, therefore, thought it appropriate to enquire
Just when the Court case is to take place. I am advised
that your lawyer, the lawyer for the Workers' Compensation
Board, and the Court Registry have all agreed to a one day
hearing on the 27th day of this month,

It would seem only sensible to await the Court
hearing. 1 am advised that this will be a chamber

argument without viva voce evidence. Usually Court A
decisions in this kind of matter are not long delayed. LCI;tut
I will have my file diarized to March 29th, On t-

that day, I will seek a report on the conclusion of the
hearing with a view to ascertaining what the judge has
said about a judgment date (assuming he has not




adjudicated orally on March 27th). 1 assume your lawyer

will have reported to you by then. Further contact will

nevertheless, at that time, be made with you on behalf of
the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Yours truly,

Bert Hick
Secretary to Cabinet

AEH/enh/gc
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Legislative Assembly OMBUDSMAN 8 Bastion Square
Province of British Columbia Victoria

British Columbia

V8W 1H9 —
Telephone ' {604) 387-5855
Zenith 2221

File No: 83 50440
April 10, 1985

Mr. Bert Hick

Secretary to Cabinet

Parliament Buildings

Victorta, B.C.

V8V 1X4

Dear Mr. Hick:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hlamflton/Forward Sawnmills Ltd.

I enclose a copy of the judgment of His Honour Mr. Justice Gibbs, in the
action between the Workers' Compensation Board and my office. As you
will see, the Court dismissed the Board's challenge of my jurisdiction in
this matter,

As you know, my complainant haa walted many months to recelve
consideration of his case. The question of the merits of his complafnt
has been delayed by the legal challenge. I request that you seeck the
Cabinet's response to the content of my report. L would appreciate that
response within a week, if at all possible.

Yours sincerely,

Karl A. Friedmann
Ombudsman

Enclosure

HAND DELIVERED
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Legislative Assembly OMBUDSMAN . .8 Bastion Square
Province of British Columbia Victona -

Brirsh Columbia

VBW 1H9

Telephone® (604) 387-5855
2Zenith 2221

April 11, 1985

DELIVERED BY HAND

Mr. Bert Hick
Secretary to Cabinet
Room 276 East Annex
Parlianment Buildings
Victoria, B.C.

V8V 1X4

Dear Mr. Rick:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton/Forward Sawmills Ltd.

I understand that Cabinet has requested an estimation of the amount of
losses suffered by Mr. Hamilton and 1sland Finances Limited as a result
of the seizure and sale of Mr. Hamilton's equipment. I suggest that
there are two methods by which the amount of any compensation owed to Mr.
Hamilton may be calculated

The first method requires expertise not readily or quickly available to
uy staff. It involves the calculation of the resale value of the
equipment at the time of sale: from this amount Would be reduced the
actual amount applied to Forward's debt to W.C.B., $6,476.48, Interest
would then be calculated on that figure to the date of payment. To that
amount would be added the amount determined to be Mr. Hamilton's business
losses in the intervening period, missed opportunities for contracts and
any damage to the goodwill or good name of Forward as a result of its
inability to operate. A further specific amount would be included. In
order to pay his chattel mortgage debt to Island Finances, Mr. Hamilton
hired a contractor to log the remaining timber on his lease, at a cost of
approximately $60,000,00, I am informed that Forward would have been
able to do the equivalent work for only $30,000.00, had Mr. Hamilton's
equipment been available. As I noted, I cannot quickly research the
specific figures involved here, but I would anticipate a total in the
neighbourhood of $120,000.00,

The second method of determining the amount of any compensation owing to
Mr, llamilton {8 to determine the amount nceded to purchase cqulvalent
equipment at this time. Less, ol course, the amount applied to the

W.C B, Jebts as notel above, [ have requested, but not get recelved, a

0..2
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catalogue showing similar, used equipment for sale by Coast Tractor at
the time. I will forward that information to you in the near future. 1
am informed that the cost of heavy equipment has risen markedly since the
date of seizure against Forward, Subject to the forthcoming catalogue, I
am told that equivalent used skidders may be purchased today for around
$40,000.00 each. The amount for a D7 or 8 cat would be less, perhaps
$25,000,00., Thus, I anticipate a total in the area of $90,000.00 or
$100, 000,00,

Neither of these methods include any calculation for the amount of
interest outstanding to Island Finances on Mr. Hamilton's chattel
mortgage. I have enclosed Island Finances' statement totalling
$22,008.79. That calculation is of interest owing from the date of the
seizure to the dates of payment of the principal by Mr. Hamilton. Island
Finances has not, thus far, requested interest on the amount., As I
understand {t, Island Finances would be willing to accept a direct
settlement of its account, or to be paid by Mr. Hamilton as a result of
any compensation he receives.

My staff contacted Mr, Hamilton to canvas his opinion as to the amount he
would consider sufficient, if a settlement is contemplated. Mr. Hamilton
stated that he would consider the figure of $150,000,00 to be a minimal
interpretation of his losses, including lost busfness opportunities, the
value of the equipment, the debt of $22,000,00 to Island Finances and the
additional expenses he incurred to contract the logging of his timber
lease, Mr. Hamilton also commented that he expected that he would be
required to pay income tax on any such settlement, thus reducing the
amount available to re-equip his business.

In summary, the minimum figure at {ssue appears to be $110,000.00 -
$120,000.00, My recommendation of a referral to arblitration was as a
result of my lack of easy and accurate calculation of the amount. I
would, of course, be pleased to research the matter further at Cabinet's
request, 1f a settlement offer is to be made.

Yours sincerely,

/‘,,/&//// /l“-“--

) Karl A, Friedmann
// Ombudsman

enclosure (1)
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February 28, 1984

ars @m o mote- e

Qmbudsman,

8 Bastion Square,
Victoria, B.C.
V8W 1H9

Attention: Dorothy Hayward

Dear Madam:
Re: our acc.#9538-J. D. Hamilton

Further to our conversation, the statement set out
below shows the balance of our account and the amunt of
interest outstanding since Mr. Hamilton's equipment was

seized by the Workers' Compensation Board around the lst
of August, 1982.

Balance as of August 15th, 1982 $63,914.00

Interest for this period. $16,617.64

Balance as of September 14, 1983 $24,350.00

Interest for this pericd. $2,435.00

Balance as of February 21,1984 $2,956.15
Total Interest $19,052.64 $19,052.A4
Total Balance owing _$22,008.79

For your own information, this is to advise that the
cost for us to obtain this funding for that same period
was $10,296.97.

We trust that this is the information you require to
assess what our claim against the Workers' Campensation

might be.
/Zﬁrs zy truly,

;/(“‘ ‘ /\ ' -
R. E. Bertoia/aa Manager s
e. &§0. e.

Delivered by hand.
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Province of Lo Ministry of achament Buildings

British Columbia ™* intergovernmentat " Victoria
' Relations British Columbia
VBV 1X4
O T OF $1F
AR 1 REo I TATGAL _

April 16, 1985

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann
Ombudsman

8 Bastion Square
Victoria, 8.C.

V8W 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton/Forward Sawmills Ltd.

Your letters of April 10 and 11, 1985 have been received.
You ask for a Cabinet response by April 17th, if at all
possible. For reasons I will explain that is not possible,
but I can assure you that the response will be forwarded to
you as soon as possible. ’

Firstly, legal counsel are now engaged in a study and
appraisal of the judgment delivered by Mr. Justice Gibbs in
this case on April 9th last. I am aware that counsel's
particular attention is being given to that part of the
judgment that refers to the possible pursuit by

Mr. Hamilton of the "whatever remedies are available to him
by way of appropriate proceedings". I am told that
attention is so focussed because there never has been an
acknowledgment of your position that a liability exists in
law, given the presence and effect of Section 52 of the
Workers' Compensation Act. In any event that is being

studied, and I wlll be writing to you again, hopefully
quite soon.

It is now apparent from your April 1llth letter that you are
seeking a payment by the Crown in excess of $100,000. Your
letter of April 1l1lth containing proposed figures of that
magnitude has been referred for study.

As stated, you will hear further fom me.

Yours truly,

Bert Hick
Secretary to Cabinet

REH/gc
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; Province of British Columbla Victoria

Legisiative Assembly OMBUDSMAN 8 Bastion Square

Bntish Columbia

VBW 1H9 -
Telephone' (604) 387-5855
Zenith 2221

File No: 83 50440

April 23rd, 1985

Mr. Bert Hick
Secretary to Cablinet
Parliament Buildings
Victoria, B.C,
V8V 1X4 '

Dear Mr. Hick:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton and Forward Sawﬁil)s Ltd.

I was concerned to receive your letter of April 16, 1985, in which you
suggest that I am seeking a payment by the Crown. I am not. My
recommendation of a referral to arbitration, on the terms and conditions
outlined in my report, stands.

At your request, I provided a geéneral calculatfon of the amounts at
issue, if the Cabinet wished to consider making a paymeént to settle the
‘matter. I indicared that I was willing to cont { nue to research the
figures if so requested by Cabinet.

I made that offer as I do not wish to prevent any possib]e resolution for
my complainant. Nevertheless, my recommendation remajns unchanged and 1
request Cabinet's response to that recommendation<in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

/ 4

(_ ° "V\\dm
Karl A, Friedmann

Qnbudsman

By Hand



Province of - Ministry of . Marliament Buildings 1 O 3
i i - Intergovernmental - Victoria
British Columbia Rela?ions British Columbia
VBV 1X4

OFFICE OF THE -
CABINET SECRETARIAT

May 10, 1985

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann
Ombudsman

8 Bastion Square
Victoria, B.C.

V8W 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton and Forward Sawmills Ltd.

The Lieutenant Governor in Council has given further
careful consideration to this matter. It is mindful of the
observation made in this matter by Mr. Justice Gibbs in his
judgment of April 9, 1985 that if there is a decision to
decline to accept or follow your opinions on law or
jurisdiction and to decline to accede to your
recommendation as to remedy, "... it will be up to Hamilton
to pursue whatever remedies are available to him by way of
appropriate proceedings, and if he does so, the decision
will be made upon the evidence before the court and the
application of the relevant law, regardless of the
Ombudsman's findings." 1Indeed that observation is quite
consistent with the statement of the Supreme Court of
Canada in The British Columbia Development Corporation and
the First Capital City Development Company Ltd. vs. Karl A.
Friedmann et al, (1985) 55 NR 298 (SCC); (198%) 14 DLR
(4th) 129; (1985) 1WWR 193 that '"The Courts, not Ombudsmen,
have responsibility for remedying violations of legal
rights."”

Considering the time and effort that many persons have

already invested in this matter, the Lieutenant Governor in
Council is not anxious to make the indicated declination if

it can be avoided. If that were to happen, leaving a "
formal court action with pleadings and discove:jes,netcﬁ~as"fj:}1
the only available alternative to Mr. Hamilton, the. result - ;i
would be very expensive and time consuming. Therefore, the
Lieutenant Governor in Council has looked for a hore

SN v
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expeditious and less expensive method of resolution, and in
doing so has focussed on your report of February 12, 1985
and its supporting documents. It has concluded that you
have correctly pointed in the direction of arbitration as a
suitable method.

You are aware that there has never been acceptance by the
Ministry of Attorney General or the Workers' Compensation
Board of the presence of what you describe, both in the
narrative of your report and in your "findings", as a
"mistake of law'". That is the very matter that the
Ministry of Attorney General suggested, in its March 30
1984 letter, be referred for a court interpretation. That
would, of course, be a much more expeditious and less
expensive procedure than a full scale law suit by

Mr. Hamilton. -While you indicate that you saw this as "a
helpful route to follow'", you imply that this suggestion
collapsed over the matter of costs. A review of your
letter of April 12, 1984 discloses that you asked for the
Ministry's position, with respect to its suggestion of a
reference, on the following four issues:

1. Will the Ministry, either individually or in
conjunction with the Board, undertake to pay all legal
costs of both Mr. Hamilton and Island Finances Ltd. as
parties to this action? It may be that Mr. Hamilton
and Island Finances Ltd. feel that their interests are
sufficiently close that they could present a joint
submission: at this stage that is not clear. I am
also assuming that any costs to Mr. Hamilton and Island
Finances Ltd. would be within the range of tariff
usually billed to your Ministry, which is, I
understand, $100. per hour.

2. Will the Ministry agree, assuming that court scheduling
allows, to present the application forthwith. I would
have grave concerns about agreeing to this suggestion
if the matter could not be decided by this summer.
While one cannot predict court schedules, this matter
should be dealt with in Chambers. Your undertaking,
along with the Board's, to proceed as quickly as
possible with the application would assist me in
arriving at a decision.
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Will the Ministry undertake to be bound by the decision
of the trial judge, and can you offer any commitment
that the Board would also agree to this position? I
can see no reason to suspend my own involvement, if it
were your intention or that of the Board's to appeal an
unfavourable ruling.

Is there agreement to proceed on the application on the
facts of this complaint, and only those facts?

On April 27, 1984, the Ministry of Attorney General
responded to your four points as follows:

1.

Scheduling - You have requested an undertaking from the
Ministry to proceed as quickly as possible. This
Ministry has no control over counsel not representing
the Crown, and therefore, cannot give the undertaking
requested. However, I am authorized to say that this
Ministry would fully cooperate in bringing an
application to court in a timely manner.

Decision of Trial Judge - This Ministry would never
agree to waive a right of appcal in advance, nor could
it offer any commitment on behalf of the Workers'
Compensation Board since it is an independent agency.

Facts of this complaint - A special case could be
formulated under Rule 33, setting out the facts
necessary for the court to interpret s. 52.

Costs - Island Finances Ltd., by virtue of its position
vis-a-vis Mr. Hamilton, has the primary interest in
pursuing a claim against the Crown for alleged unlawful
seizure and sale by the Sheriff. 1Island Finances Ltd.
has not chosen to initiate proceedings. This Ministry
could not justify payment of money out of public funds
to provide Island Finances Ltd. with a lawyer to pursue
their claim against the Crown. As an independent
financial corporation, they undoubtedly can afford
legal services to pursue their claim, and if they
choose not to do so that is their decision. Also,

Mr. Hamilton should require no representation separate
from Island Finances Ltd. since, presumably, they have
identical interests in attempting to regain the




chattels or obtain compensation for the chattels
seized. If there is an issue between Mr. Hamilton and
Island Finances Ltd., then that is separate and apart
from the s. 52 issue, and the Crown should not be put
to the expense of settling any private legal
differences as between Mr. Hamilton and Island Finances
Ltd. Finally, it must be kept in mind that if your
interpretation of the law is correct and Island
Finances Ltd. takes that position, the court would be
quite sympathetic to a request for costs in their
favour.

It would seem that your issues 2 and 4 were resolved or if
not, are capable of resolution to your satisfaction.

Your third issue or perhaps more properly described as your
third condition was outrightly rejected, and correctly so.
You ask the impossible in requesting an advance undertaking
that there will be no appeal from the decision of the judge
of first instance. A Court of Appeal is made available in
this province for those who believe the judge of first
instance has fallen into error. To deny such access is to
deny due process. Your proposal in that regard is
unacceptable. Your situation would be much different today
had you been precluded from appealing the decision of judge
. of the first instance in the B.C.D.C. case.

The response on the matter of costs was a reasonable one.
In the interests of finding a resolution to this matter,
however, the Crown will agree to provide for counsel for
Mr. Hamilton in the manner that you have suggested to a
maximum of $2,500. if you continue to believe he requires
counsel separate from that of Island Finances Ltd.

If you will move from your position on issue 3 as the Crown
has moved from its position on issue 1, then the suggestion
would be that the interpretation be sought from the court
immediately by way of a Chamber application. If the
ultimate court adjudication does not support your position,
the matter will be concluded, insofar as this aspect of it
is concerned. If, however, the ultimate adjudication is in
favour of your position, then the arbitration will proceed
forthwith on your terms.

106



It is hoped that you will see this response as being
reasonable, and one that seeks to bring about fair
resolution to all.

You truly,

ert Hick
Secretary to Cabinet

AEH/gc

107




Province of _, Ministry of O Parliament Buildings ] O 8

British Columbia Intergovernmental - Victoria _‘
Relations British Columbia
VBV 1X4 —_

OFFICE OF THE
CABINET SECRETARIAT

June 3, 1985

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann,

Ombudsman,

8 Bastion Square, : —
Victoria, B.C.

V8W 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

Re: Mr. J.D. Hamilton and Forward Sawmills Ltd.

This will acknowledge receipt of your letter
dated June 3, 1985 concerning the above complaint.

Yours truly,

Bert Hick
Secretary to Cabinet

AEH/gC /“V "_,u.;
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Province of Ministry cf Parhament Buidings

British Columbia intergovernmental Viztoria

H =h Columbia
Relation Betish €
elations VAV 1X4
OFFICE OF THE
CABINET SECRETARIAT

June 13, 1985

Dr. Karl A. Friedmann,
Ombudsman,

8 Bastion Square,
victoria, B.C.

VBW 1H9

Dear Dr. Friedmann:

Re: Mr., J.D. Hamilton and Forward Sawmills Ltd.

Your letter of June 3, 1985 has received
consideration. Further lengthy correspondence dealing with
a number of the comments you have made will do nothing to
resolve the matter. Rather, it appears appropriate to
state that a fair reading of your letter would indicate
that you have rejected the proposal for settlement and
disposition as outlined in the May 10th letter. A fair
reading also indicates that you have decided that unless
your recommendation of an immediate referral to arbitration
is accepted, it is your choice to seek whatever remedial
action you can for Mr. Hamilton by making a report to the
Legislative Assembly. If that is your decision and it is
the path that Mr. Hamilton would also chose to follow
rather than pursuing the proposal for settlement and
disposition that has been put to you, then that is the
procedure that you presumably will follow.

Just to clarify one matter in light of what you
have said and that would be of interest to Mr. Hamilton, it
was intended that the $2,500. maximum ceiling in leqgal
costs would apply to the application before the originating
court. Mr. Hamilton could expect consideration with
fairness and equity on the matter of costs should
proceedings go beyond the court of initial jurisdiction,

Yours truly,

Rert Hick
Secretary to abinot

AFH/NC
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